

LUND UNIVERSITY School of Economics and Management

Master's Program in Economic Development

Natural disasters, unnatural consequences?

Characterizing the causes of natural disaster's vulnerability in Chile

by

Sofía Sacks Ferrari - sofia.sacks.0235@student.lu.se

Reducing inequality in Chile has long been a priority of policymakers because of its negative impacts over political representation, spatial segregation and distribution of opportunities. Through the framework of vulnerability, this research suggests that an unexpected impact of inequality in Chile is an increased likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters. By using logistic multilevel regressions based on household survey data, this study finds that disaster-related losses are more likely among households with less economic capacity and entitlements, less mechanisms of political and social power, in more economically unequal settings. At the national and regional level, poverty, rurality and having experienced discrimination are found to be positively significantly associated with increases in likelihoods of losses due to natural disaster. In presence of all the studied factors of vulnerability, it is shown that the likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters increases in 11 percentage points at the national level, and between 9 and 15 percentage points, depending on the region.

Keywords: *natural disasters; inequality; vulnerability; Chile; multilevel logistic regression; household data*

EKHS22 Master's Thesis (15 credits ECTS) June 2019 Supervisor: Martin Andersson Examiner: Jutta Bolt Word Count: 15,910

Table of Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1		
2	Theory and background				
	2.1	Theoretical Approach	5		
	2.1.	1 Vulnerability and natural hazards	5		
	2.1.2	2 Factors affecting vulnerability: who is at risk of disaster?	8		
	2.1.3	3 Previous research	11		
	2.2	Background: Chile's inequality structure and disaster management history	13		
	2.2.	1 Natural disasters in Chile: Impacts and institutional responses	17		
	2.2.2	2 Empirical research	22		
	2.3	Hypotheses	23		
3	Dat	a	25		
	3.1	The CASEN Survey	25		
	3.2	Variable description	27		
	3.2.	1 Response variable: Experience of loss due to natural disasters	27		
	3.2.2	2 Other variables	30		
	3.2.3	3 Data limitations	32		
4	Met	thodology	34		
	4.1	Multilevel logistic regressions	34		
	4.1.	1 Methodological limitations	38		
5	Emj	pirical Analysis	39		
	5.1	National level analysis	39		
	5.2	Within-regions analysis	43		
	5.3	Between-region analysis	47		
	5.4	Discussion	48		
6	Con	nclusion	52		

List of Tables

Table 1: Number of affected inhabitants according to type of disaster, 2017 18	8
Table 2: Distribution of inhabitants affected by natural disasters by region	8
Table 3: Sample size according to region and geographic zone, CASEN 2017	6
Table 4: Response variable specification and categories, count and percentage	7
Table 5: Dependent variable categories and distribution 23	8
Table 6: Regional distribution of dependent variable, count and percentage	8
Table 7: Variables summary 32	2
Table 8: Multilevel logistic regression estimation over likelihood of loss due to natural	
disaster – House/household as base level, region as context level	2
Table 9: Predicted and observed values of the dependent variable across regions	3
Table 10: Multilevel logistic regression estimation for regional models over likelihood of loss	5
because of natural disaster - Household as base level, municipality as context level. Odds	
ratios	5
Table 11: Summary statistics for continuous variables	0
Table 12: Categories, count, percentage and source of categorical variables	0
Table 13: Variable correlation matrix 62	2
Table 14: ROC Estimations	3
Table 15: AIC and BIC tests 63	3
Table 16: Estimation of probability margins for within-cluster effects, at population average	
and risk values	4

List of Figures

Figure 1: Pressure and Release Model	6
Figure 2: Administrative divisions of Chile	. 14
Figure 3: Historic estimated Gini Index	. 15
Figure 4: Natural hazard exposure and likelihood of damage, Chile, 2017	. 20
Figure 5: Percentage of houses affected by natural disasters, regional level	. 29
Figure 6: Distribution of household's houses experiencing losses due natural disasters	
according to national income deciles	. 30
Figure 7: Random effect slope margin of municipal belonging, Municipality as second-leve	el
variable	. 36
Figure 8: Random effect slope margin of regional belonging, Region as second-level varial	ole.
	. 36
Figure 9: Marginal effect of income over natural disaster's losses likelihood	.40
Figure 10: Marginal effect of Gini Index over natural disaster's losses likelihood	.41
Figure 11: Probability of household experiencing loss due to natural disasters at model mea	an
values and model risk values	.47

List of Abbreviations

CASEN: Encuesta Nacional de Caracterización Socioeconómica – National socio-economic charaterization survey CRED: Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters GDP: Gross domestic product OECD: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ONEMI: Oficina Nacional de Emergencias del Ministerio del Interior – National Office of Emergency of the Ministry of the Interior PAR: Pressure and Release Model

UNISDR: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction

1 Introduction

In recent years, the relationship between disaster management and economic development has become a relevant public policy priority in both the developing and developed world. Almost all regions of the world are struck by the natural occurrence of windstorms, floods, droughts, cold spells and heat waves, landslides, earthquakes and other hazardous phenomena. However, in the past 30 years the number and intensity of natural hazards has quadrupled resulting in increased human and economic losses: while in 1998 the world's estimated economic cost associated to natural disasters was of USD\$125 billion, in 2017 the number swelled to USD\$450 billion used in reconstruction, humanitarian aid, relocation, livelihood recovery and heritage rescue (UNISDR & CRED, 2018; UNISDR, 2018). Climate change scenarios have predicted increases in both frequency and severity of extreme weather events due to global warming, which could imply an elevation of these numbers even further (IPCCC, 2012).

While several natural phenomena occur on everyday basis, not all of them are considered natural disasters. According to the Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED), natural disasters are defined as events that have natural causes and lead to 10 or more fatalities, affect 100 or more people, or result in a call for international assistance or the declaration of a state of emergency (UNISDR & CRED, 2018). This difference is made clear when separating the concepts of *hazards* and *disasters*: while the former alludes to extreme geophysical events to which humans are exposed, the latter refers to the adverse effects caused by hazard themselves (Alexander, 2000; Paul, 2011).

There is a common belief stating that natural hazards do not discriminate. Nevertheless, this does not seem to be the case for disasters: economic and human losses are unevenly distributed among and within countries, nations, communities and genders (Yoon, 2012). A way to understand this relates to the fact that disasters' consequences and impacts are very contingent on cultural, economic and social relationships (Neumayer & Plümper, 2007). Social processes that articulate societies generate unequal exposure to disaster risks, making some groups of the population more likely to be affected by disasters than others; an relationship that reflects inequalities of power in societies (Hilhorst & Bankoff, 2004). Therefore, the extent to which

communities are vulnerable– or prone to suffer losses (Cutter, 1999) – to disasters does not seem to only be determined by its proximity to sources of risk, but by the characteristics that influence the capacity to prepare, respond and recover from disasters, which are very closely related to income, education and the context to which they are subject (Cannon, 1994). In that sense, it is possible to argue that hazards are natural, but disasters are, instead, socially constructed; even a function of income and social inequality (Cannon, 1994).

Overall, it seems that exposure to natural hazards is not enough to explain the differences in losses, but instead, some function of economic development is part of the equation. Income, ethnicity, age, rurality and education seem to be crucial in determining who is affected the most by hazards and to whom they turn into disasters. To explore this puzzle, this research pretends to examine the distribution of natural hazards' caused damage, focusing on the country of Chile, attempting to identify the factors that increase vulnerability to natural disasters. Chile represents an especially compelling case of study for exploring exposure and impacts of natural disasters and how different population groups are affected by them. Located between the Andes and a long coastline with the Pacific Ocean in the so-called 'Pacific Ring of Fire', Chile is one of the countries with the highest volcanic and seismic activity in the world, registering in the past 100 years three of the top-five strongest earthquakes in history (Bronfman et al., 2016). Among the OECD countries, Chile is classified as the most exposed to natural hazards, with 13% of its area and 54% of its population exposed to 3 or more different types, which vary geographically and regionally (Dilley et al., 2005). This provides the opportunity to analyze a broad scope of risks and hazards, ensuring that the results are not disaster-specific.

Besides the abundant geographic diversity, great social and economic inequalities characterize Chile. The country exhibits the second highest income inequality within the OECD, with a Gini Index of 45%, with the closest follower, Turkey, almost 5 percentage points behind (OECD, 2019). This degree of income distribution's skewness permeates most aspects of social interactions. More than 28% of Chileans feel they belong to a group that is discriminated against, the highest rate in Latin America (Latinobarómetro, 2015). High levels of inequality have also been documented on access to education, health, housing quality, regional disparities and urban-rural gaps, which may enhance differences in vulnerability even further (Cociña, Frei & Larrañaga, 2017; Parro & Reyes, 2017; UNDP, 2014; Valenzuela, Bellei & De los Ríos, 2014).

Therefore, this research aims to explore the relationship between inequality and natural disaster vulnerability by surveying the impact that differences geographic, social and economic characteristics have on the likelihood of being affected by natural hazards in Chile. Since the concept of vulnerability is a dynamic one which is determined by the variety of risk and structures of inequality in different countries, this research will attempt to answer to the question of *which households' factors have an impact on disaster vulnerability in Chile,* or, in other words, which empirical characteristics increase disaster vulnerability. Through this question, this research pretends to specifically contribute to the study of social vulnerability, but also to that of the consequences of inequality in a broad sense. Empirically, I will show that mechanisms related to economic capacity and entitlement, social and political power and structure of income inequality are significant in impacting the likelihood of experiencing losses because of natural disasters.

In the Chilean context, while the research in the causes and consequences of inequality is vast, little previous research has addressed the unequal impacts of natural hazards, and when so, it has been done at the local level (Sandoval Henríquez, 2017; Sandoval & Voss, 2016; Vasquez et al., 2008; Vásquez & Salgado, 2009). No research has been carried out at the national level, which is allowed by the existence new data provided by the use of the Socio-economic Characterization National Survey – *Encuesta Nacional de Caracterización Socioeconómica CASEN* -, a nationally representative survey gathering information of over 200.000 Chile inhabitants. For the Chilean context, this research will empirically contribute by expanding case-studies to a national perspective, including a large, nationally representative sample.

Although this is a single-country study, its consequences may be understood in a broader scheme by relating to non-traditional consequences of inequality, in which way I pretend to contribute theoretically. By linking disaster risk to inequality in vulnerability, the Chilean case is just an example that can be applied to other countries in which similar structures of inequality are present. The Chilean case represents an exception in terms of its high exposure to disaster risk, but other countries with high social inequality may find similar distributions of losses concentrated in specific groups to different extents. In this sense, this research pretends to link the literature of disaster risk management, economic and social inequality and vulnerability in an empirical study.

This research will be organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the theoretical framework on vulnerability, its relationship with disaster risk and its determinant factors. Previous research

on the topic is surveyed. This section includes a background analysis on Chile, its social and economic inequality history and disaster risk policies. Hypotheses are presented at the end of this chapter. Section 3 presents the CASEN survey, proxy and control variables, as well as data limitations. Section 4 introduces multilevel logistic regression models, and the empirical models that this research will test. Section 5 presents the results of multilevel logistic regressions for within-cluster and between-cluster analyses, as well as its discussion. Concluding remarks and implications are examined in Section 6.

2 Theory and background

2.1 Theoretical Approach

Disasters are multidimensional and all-encompassing occurrences that extend across various aspects of human life impacting environmental, social, economic, political and biological conditions. When studying its effects, this multidimensionality needs to be reflected into an analytical arena, and the concept of vulnerability has become key in understanding what impacts communities' likelihood to become endangered or affected by natural hazards (Oliver-Smith, 2004). This section, therefore, will first examine the relationship between vulnerability and natural disasters, and the factors to which it is related. The Chilean context in natural disasters will be presented afterwards.

2.1.1 Vulnerability and natural hazards

The disaster management literature has introduced a variety of concepts that are useful for asserting who is more and less likely to be affected by natural disasters. In the first place, 'hazard' refers to the natural events that affect places at different times (Wisner et al., 2004: pp. 7). Hazards have different degrees of intensity and severity, and weather and climate statistics allow for the estimation of hazard occurrences as a general trend (Wamsler, 2014). However, these are not enough to estimate the losses, which come from the concept of risk of disaster. The concept of risk of disaster is an interaction term of the natural hazard and the number of vulnerable people, which could be schematized in a semi-equation like, as argued by Wisner et al., (2004: p.49) and Wamsler (2014):

*Risk of Disaster = Hazard * Vulnerability*

A disaster, then, can be defined as a 'serious disruption of the functioning of a community involving widespread human, material, economic or environmental losses and impacts exceeding the ability of the affected community or society to cope using its own resources' (UNISDR, 2009: p9). This definition refers to the different scales of impact, but also to the way

communities are capable to cope with it in terms of preparedness and response, a model that has been referred to as the Pressure and Release (PAR) model (Wisner et al., 2004). Overall, the basis for the PAR model is that a disaster originates because of the intersection of two forces: those that generate vulnerability on one side – risk factors -, and the natural hazard event on the other side. The 'release', instead, may come from reducing vulnerability through addressing its 'root causes', or the risk factors that increased it in the beginning (Adger, 2006). In other words, the likelihood of disaster in a community is a function of both their biophysical exposure and their social dimension, as shown in Figure 1:



Figure 1: Pressure and Release Model

Source: Author's based on Adger (2006)

In all these definitions, vulnerability is at the core of the definition of who is at risk of experiencing disasters. The concept of vulnerability has been used across different fields and disciplines including disaster management, development studies, economics, anthropology,

geography, and environmental studies (Alwang, Siegel & Jørgensen, 2001; Bergstrand et al., 2015). Because of its widespread use, a consensus on a definition has not been reached. However, as noted by several authors (Cutter, 1996; Cutter, Boruff & Shirley, 2003; Füssel & Klein, 2006), two opposing strands of literature arise in this regard: one that identifies vulnerability as the material conditions that make people or places potentially more likely to losses in case of extreme weather events; and one that understands it as a social condition that measures societal resilience to hazards. In that sense, vulnerability has been understood as a context, but also as an outcome, i.e. societal resilience.

Following the economics and disaster management tradition, in opposition to the human and political ecology one, this research will adopt the definition of vulnerability that understands it as the traits and conditions that make humans vulnerable in coping with disasters which go beyond the risk exposure itself (Alwang, Siegel & Jørgensen, 2001; Cutter, 1996; Wisner et al., 2004). In this definition, vulnerability refers to a group of pre-existing conditions of the population that influences its ability to prepare, respond, and recover from hazards, therefore making them more likely to be affected and disrupted by them (Roncancio & Nardocci, 2016).

Specifically, in the PAR approach, factors or conditions that generate vulnerabilities are accumulated producing differentiated environmental and disaster risk through social structures and inequalities which influence the ability of groups to respond to disasters, but also, characteristics which difficult access to information, knowledge and technology, limit access to political power and representation, and diminish the quality of infrastructure (Wisner et al., 2004). These factors that can be summarized in three processes of inequality: entitlement, or economic capacity; social power and political economy, or historical and structural class-based patterns of social reproduction; and the interaction of these two, or mechanisms related to income inequality (Cutter, 2001; Cutter, Boruff & Shirley, 2003). All of these social processes that may generate unequal exposure to risk by mirroring power relations in society are different components of vulnerability (Cannon, 1994; Hilhorst & Bankoff, 2004; Watts & Bohle, 1993), and will be explored in the following section.

2.1.2 Factors affecting vulnerability: who is at risk of disaster?

Factors related to mechanisms of economic capacity and entitlement

From the definition presented above, it can be inferred that the concept of social vulnerability is closely linked to poverty. However, they are not perfect correlates: not all socially vulnerable people are poor, and not all poor are vulnerable to natural disasters (Bandyopadhyay, 2016; Yoon, 2012). Instead, unlike poverty, vulnerability is a dynamic concept that expresses changing social and economic conditions concerning the nature of hazards (Huafeng, 2016), which is more related to socio-economic conditions, incorporating race, gender, age, and other marginalized groups in an intersectional way. Disaster vulnerability arises out of the social and economic circumstances of everyday living (Morrow, 1999), therefore there is no universal checklist of vulnerable groups that may apply for all cases. Poor people are generally the most vulnerable, but an understanding of vulnerability rests on a disaggregation of the structure of poverty itself (Swift, 1989).

The mechanisms under which marginalized groups are more vulnerable than others are multiple. A first one comes straight from the lack of material and economic resources. Poor households have limited financial reserves for supplies before an announced natural hazard and for buying reconstruction materials in the aftermath (Morrow, 1999). Non-poor households' asset damage can sometimes be greater in monetarized value, but the proportion of assets damaged for the poor is usually larger (Sawada & Takasaki, 2017). Therefore, the impact is likely to affect them disproportionately, including higher mortality rates and housing damage: they are built with worse materials and are usually overcrowded, enhancing the difficulty for evacuation (Wisner et al., 2004). Poorer households will recover slowly or not entirely at all, which will increase their future vulnerability as well (Watts & Bohle, 1993). Moreover, poorer households are often located in more vulnerable locations, which may threaten the household itself but also belongings in the case of floods, earthquakes or landslides; and difficult the access to public transport for evacuations (Bolin & Stanford, 1998).

Factors related to mechanisms of social and political power

As stated before, not only the lack of resources impacts the likelihood of disaster impact. Households possess different human resources and capabilities, such as health and physical ability, education and skills, which may be related to income but have different causal mechanisms (Morrow, 1999). Age-wise, the vulnerability of the elderly varies significantly with age, health, family and economic circumstances. However, the elderly usually lack independent physical and economic resources for appropriate responses, are more likely to suffer health consequences and will recover slowly (Bolin & Klenow, 1983; Donner & Rodriguez, 2008). On the opposite, children's vulnerability is also higher than adults, since they lack the ability to handle their own evacuation and recovery. Additionally, disasters have a gendered nature. Traditionally, women's roles have been related to look after and protect children and elder relatives, as well as to maintain and take care of the family's property, which hampers their own rescue effects (Neumayer & Plümper, 2007). Relief efforts rely on existing structures of resource distribution, which usually implies that women are marginalized in access and so are households led by them (West & Orr, 2007).

Living arrangements also have disaster-related consequences, given that the material and nonmaterial resources available to any household are affected by the ratio of productive adults to dependents. Moreover, the personal experience, education and skills possessed by the adults in a household can significantly influence its resiliency. The problems posed by illiteracy or poor language management are great when seeking information, understanding evacuation routes and alerts (Bolin & Kurtz, 2018).

Lack of family and social networks can also be a risk-increasing factor. Fast-growing communities are more likely to contain isolated households with limited social and family networks to activate in times of crisis (Christian et al., 2019). Similarly, discriminated groups like immigrants and ethnic and racial minorities may lack connections to the larger community and hesitate to seek assistance outside their immediate contact group for a variety of reasons, including a fear of government officials and of discrimination, while simultaneously be denied of such assistance (Donner & Rodriguez, 2008).

Another important factor in a household's exposure to disaster is the degree to which it lacks autonomous control over its circumstances: vulnerability is also dependent upon a household's relation to community decision-makers, impacting the speed of recovery and distribution of aid, but also placement of early warning systems and other prevention factors (Cannon, 1994). In this regard, the recovery of a community can be tied to its position in the local or national political power structure. For example, isolated and/or rural areas can be ignored in the politicized environment surrounding a disaster, and they are usually correlated with poverty (Gillis Peacock, Gladwin & Morrow, 2012).

Factors related to mechanisms of income inequality

Because of the factors outlined above, the definition of vulnerability is built upon the notion of inequality, of which one representation is income inequality. All of the mechanisms that impact vulnerability are, in some way or another, related to the use of resources and the extent to which communities and households are entitled to make use of them in order to determine their ability to cope with and adapt to disasters (Cannon, 1994; Sen, 1990). In this sense, by understanding the use of resources as a function of entitlement, an underlying premise states that institutions are moderating its access: as argued by Kammerbauer & Wamsler (2017) the status quo structure of entitlements determines which groups bear unwanted costs and which ones are able to confide in the power of the state to protect interests. This implies, for example, that some groups may get better access to assistance, recovery funds and reconstruction than others, reinforcing or reshaping patterns of poverty. Moreover, inequality acts as a catalyzer of other factors determining vulnerability: for example, richer people will tend to reside in areas that are less prone to disasters, whereas poor people will not be able to choose to do so in areas that are safe, increasing their exposure (Yamamura, 2015).

Specifically, there is a body of research that has analyzed the impacts of natural disasters over income inequality. This builds on the idea that when a natural disaster strikes, it is poor people in a larger proportion who are more likely to be injured or unable to work, suffering through infrastructure destruction. Therefore, their incomes are overly-likely to be impacted, whereas the same will not usually happen to those who are better off, widening income disparities and income inequality. However, the inverse relationship has also been researched: in particular, as argued by Anbarci, Escaleras & Register (2005), higher income inequality hinders the rationale for collective action that creates the base for mitigation and preparedness for natural hazards, which, in a way, helps them turn into disasters. Moreover, in a society with high income inequality, informational asymmetries are high and politicians are less accountable for prevention and mitigation efforts, which hinders efforts for disaster prevention (Besley & Burgess, 2002).

Overall, all of these impacts are crossed by each other empirically. Poverty is likely a more definitive marginality but is compounded by membership in other groups. On average, poor people are more likely to be female, which implies they will be more affected by disasters. Rurality and disenfranchisement are usually highly correlated (Hilhorst & Bankoff, 2004; Morrow, 1999). Moreover, when these factors are combined with high inequality, whether as a

cause or as a consequence, effective policy for recovery and rebuild is likely to be segmented and therefore increase vulnerabilities further.

Vulnerability has become a strong orienting principle for the field of disaster studies in the sense that it is able to encompass a variety of aspects crossed related to economic positionality or the position society determined by income and other factors (Oliver-Smith, 2009). It is in that sense that it is possible to argue that disasters and its consequences are deeply enrooted in history and political economy, since exposure and vulnerability, as part of the conceptual equation of 'hazard × vulnerability = risk \rightarrow disaster', are a combination of complex social, economic, political, and cultural relations. Understanding the role each one of these factors has in determining the likelihood of disaster will be the main aim of the empirical part of this research.

2.1.3 Previous research

The empirical research of the economic impacts of natural disasters has several layers. First, some research has dealt with the effects of natural disasters on macroeconomic indicators. There are no clear causal mechanisms for this reduction: from a Schumpeterian point of view, creative destruction could even bring growth rates up, but traditional neo-classical growth models predict that the destruction of capital would lower it (Cavallo et al., 2013). Indeed, empirical evidence has found evidence for both of these claims. Meta-analytic works have found that natural disasters usually bring an immediate contraction in economic output, a deterioration of a country's balance of trade and fiscal balances, and an increase in poverty and income disparities (Felbermayr & Gröschl, 2014; Klomp & Valckx, 2014). Time-wise, it has been found that reductions in the growth of GDP typically occurs in the year that the event occurs, with the potential for sharp increases in subsequent years. Alternatively, Skidmore & Toya (2002) find that although disasters reduce the expected rates of return to physical capital, it increases relative returns to human capital which promotes investments, forces the update of new technologies and overall improves total factor productivity.

In relevance for this study, the relationship of natural disasters and vulnerability has been also been tested empirically, in two different types of research. A first group is comprised of qualitative and small-N studies, usually from the field of sociology, which deal with the mechanisms adopted by communities with specific needs in recovering and responding to disasters. Usually, this literature is disaster-specific, and argues that specific community vulnerability is not applicable for other cases, therefore does not intend to generalize in any way. Building on the PAR model, examples of this are found in Christian et al.'s work (2019), who analyze the impact of rural livelihoods programs in India over cyclone impacts; Besley & Burguess (2002) who do so with government first-responses over flood damage in the Bengal region; and Bolin & Stanford (1998) who study the needs of the elderly in Californian communities for earthquake responses. Differently, Graif (2016) found that a group of Hurricane Katrina's single-mothers victims experienced upward mobility by forced resettlement, which created new networks and job opportunities. While the advantage of these approaches is that they see vulnerability as shifting, contingent, and spatio-temporally variable, they impede cross-country and time comparison.

A second type of research is quantitative and examines national or global impacts of different components and definitions of vulnerability over natural disasters-related losses. Some research has focused on the impact of specific factors over disaster risk. Anbarci, Escaleras & Register (2005) find that a positive relationship between income inequality and earthquake deaths in a worldwide sample. Kellenberg & Mobarak (2008) find the effect of income over household vulnerability to be marginally decreasing after USD\$4,000 per year. Finally, Neumayer & Plümper (2007) study the gendered impacts of natural disasters, and find that most disasters decrease the life expectancy of women more than men's and have higher mortality rates for women, a relationship that is mediated by income.

The single-factor literature, however, has a strong weakness: understanding vulnerability as a single-factor determinant, which does not build on societal relationships. Instead, another approach which has been common in the economics and geography literature builds on the PAR theoretical development of accumulated vulnerabilities coming from different factors. Usually these rely on the creation of composite indices or multilevel models for addressing global vulnerability to disasters, focusing on the community-level or household level. The better-known case is the Social Vulnerability Index (SoVi) (Cutter, Boruff & Shirley, 2003), which uses a normalized set of 42 United States' census variables to measure vulnerability for 3000 counties, including variables for dimensions of age, income, race distribution, rates of poverty, population change, housing stock and infrastructure dependence. This was found to be significantly correlated with presidential declarations of disaster at the county level (Cutter, Boruff & Shirley, 2003). A great number of indices has been created based on this approach for

specific hazards: Boruff et al. (2005) for coastal erosion, Myers et al. (2008) for hurricanes in the US, and Fekete (2009) for flooding in Germany.

In the case of single-year measurements, multilevel regression modeling has been the more common approach. Examples of this can be found in Huafeng's work (2016), which developed a vulnerability analysis of Chinese provinces relying on different accounts of poverty at the household level, by building multilevel models with measurements at the household and community levels. Rasch (2017) finds similar results for Brazil's vulnerability to floods focusing on the relevant impact of income inequality as a mediator variable for all levels.

The limitation of composite and quantitative approaches is that they understand vulnerability as a fixed condition, inherent in a certain fraction of the population. However, it allows for large-N analyses and the quantification of impacts of different factors. Overall, despite the approach, all vulnerability to disaster literature seems to refute the randomness of natural disaster and understands them as social events.

2.2 Background: Chile's inequality structure and disaster management history

Chile is located in the Southern Cone in South America, bordering the Pacific Ocean, the Republics of Peru and Bolivia, the Andes mountain range and Argentina. It has over 18 million inhabitants over 750.000 km² of land, of which 6.5 million live in the capital city, Santiago. Administratively, the country is divided into 16 regions and 345 municipalities, and 88% of its population lives in urban areas. 65% of the Chilean labor force is employed in services, although most of its GDP is attributed to mining activities, especially from copper and non-metallic materials (UN Statistics, 2019). Currently, the average GDP per capita is around US\$15.000, the highest in Latin America.



Figure 2: Administrative divisions of Chile

Source: Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile (2019)

Chile has long been considered the most stable country in Latin America. In economic terms, GDP grew steadily since 1990 increasing by 149% and reaching USD\$227.1 billion in 2018 (The World Bank, 2018). Poverty reductions efforts have done so from 68.6% in 1990 to 11.7% in 2017 (CASEN, 2017), and access to education and health have increased, elevating HDI by 20% to a value of 0.843 – similar to Portugal (UNDP, 2018). Politically, since the return of democracy in 1989 after a 17-year dictatorship, the country has been politically stable and showcased Latin America's most institutionalized party system, as well as strong and reliable institutions, strong party discipline, and low levels of corruption and voting shares for populisms (Roberts, 2015).

However, together with the advances the country has experienced in the past couple of decades, inequality has also been a characteristic of Chilean's development. As argued by Rodríguez-

Weber (2017), this has been an Achilles heel since independence, which could be attributed to a historical malapportionment of land in favor of the Spanish elite in the early XVII century. As the author estimates, the Gini Index follows a similar trend to Milanovic' Kuznets inequality waves (Milanovic, 2016) for the 1850-2010 period (see Figure 2). However, the trend has not gone down since the 1980's, but rather has stabilized at a high point. Since 1990, the Gini Index has fallen only 0.52 to 0.48 (CASEN, 2017). While this reduction has been credited to improvements in education which have improved wages, recent analyses suggest that the premium skill is exhausted (Parro & Reyes, 2017), giving little reason to believe the downturn will continue.



Figure 3: Historic estimated Gini Index

Source: Rodriguez Weber (2017)

In line with Milanovic's argument showing the rise of global plutocrats since the 2000's, income in Chile is highly concentrated in the 1% and 0.1% top earners, which maintain over 33% of the national income and 19.5% respectively (The World Bank, 2015). Overall, this has implied that relative inequalities have reduced, but the absolute income distance between the richest and poorest has grown. Since 2000, the 1st income decile has seen increases in salaries of 145%, whereas the top 10% has by 30%, bringing down the Gini Index. However, in absolute terms, the per capita real gain has been of USD\$43 for the lowest 10%, and USD\$372 for the highest 10%, almost 9 times higher (Cociña, Frei & Larrañaga, 2017).

The current status of income inequality also has effects over perceived justice and democracy. Most Chileans feel that society's retribution is not in line with their individual effort, in what has been referred to as the 'qualitative aspect of income inequality' (Espinoza, 2012). In particular, 41% of Chileans feel that they have been discriminated against, most because of their social class or gender (PNUD-DES, 2017)

However, it is not only a matter of perceived inequality. Chile holds the highest HDI in Latin America, ranking 38th in the world. However, adjusting it by inequality, which considers how the poorer in society live, makes the country drop 32 positions in the ranking and lose 18% of its value (UNDP, 2018). In concrete terms, the worse living conditions of the poorer, fostered by worse educational and health infrastructure, imply low levels of inter-generational mobility and spatial segregation (Espinoza & Núñez, 2014). According to the PISA indicators, students of the 1st and 5th quintile show the largest differences in Latin America (UNDP, 2017). The Chilean state capacity – understood as the ability to effectively exert sovereignty by providing basic services (Luna & Soifer, 2017) -, has been documented to be extremely limited in rural settings, as well as in poor communities, unable to provide access to primary education for all children, health services within the reach of emergency care time, and housing beyond emergency settings.

Moreover, segregation of specific groups has characterized the latest trends of Chilean social development. Rural population in Chile holds most of the poor and indigent incomes, characterized by temporary and informal employment and low educational levels (RIMISP, IDRC & IFAD, 2018). However, even in areas where income is within the national averages, rural population suffers from under provision of basic public services, isolation, and lack of telecommunications coverage. Indigenous people also suffer from severe segregation: on average, indigenous households, which constitute around 10% of the total population, earn less than half the income of those who are not. They are also heavily excluded in terms of land ownership, water rights and educational access (Agostini, Brown & Roman, 2010).

The preservation of Chilean inequality cannot be understood without focalized social policy. Overall, state's action has been insufficient to reverse income inequality, by means of deficient and insufficient public spending, but also by failing to guarantee access to services non conditioned to payment capacity. During the military dictatorship of Augusto Pinochet, Chile experienced a strong process of social policy retrenchment, when the Junta adopted radical market-oriented reforms in most areas. In this period, most social programs' execution were delegated to subnational or private actors, incorporating market mechanisms such as demand subsidies, educational vouchers, and health services payment (Castiglioni, 2018; Ocampo,

2008). With these, a network of direct poverty subsidies was created, incorporating the concept of 'focalization' in public policy, or the directionality of social policy to priority groups, accompanied with a heavy reduction of public expenditure in education, health and housing (Parro & Reyes, 2017). Great varieties existed and persist between and within subnational entities in terms of income and capacities, which has led to enormous differences in results and coverage of basic needs and services, creating inequalities in life quality.

After democratization, most market-oriented and decentralized policies persisted until well into the 2000, and a large majority is still in place. Instead of a comprehensive welfare or social policy, Chilean's has been characterized as a constellation of subsidies and social help that intervene fragmentarily without creating a sense of entitlement to it (Ceballos, 2015). For example, only in 2008 a pension system was established for those with salaries below the minimum, which coverage was raised to include the 60% poorer and house-workers. Women who are registered in the social protection system are entitled to receive 'care packages' for born children; and public schools are not guaranteed funding, but rather students are through a system of vouchers (Bellei, 2015).

In housing policy, particularly relevant for disaster risk management, the subsidiary nature of state policy has also been present. While vouchers and private offer have helped reduce the quantitative demand for housing, which has implied that more than 70% of Chileans own their houses, the quality of housing has decreased (Brain & Mora, 2012). With social housing being subject to private offer, it has to compete for location with better payers, which has derived into its agglomeration in peripheric areas of cities, where services are worse, and more disaster risk has been reported (Cociña & Boano, 2013).

In conclusion, the entrenchment of structural inequality given by income, social class and other social factors, and the lack of effective redistributive policy contribute to the establishment of segmented life qualities, impacting access to health, education, housing, and as will be argued next, disaster risk safety.

2.2.1 Natural disasters in Chile: Impacts and institutional responses

In year 2017, the years analyzed by the survey that this research employs, the National Emergency Office (ONEMI) registered 41,457 affected households due to natural disasters.

Within these, almost 4 million Chileans were registered to have suffered from some source of natural hazard, as shown in Table 1.

Type of hazard	Number of affected people
Wildfires	289,643
Flood	4,266
Drought	6,805
High tides	68
Snowstorms	407,690
Rainstorm	397,229
Earthquakes	6,588
Storms	2,568,826
Tornados	16,633
Wind storms	28,159

Table 1: Number of affected inhabitants according to type of disaster, 2017

Source: Author's based on ONEMI (2018)

During this year, ONEMI characterized four events as major disasters: 1028 wildfires in the Maule region in January 2017; a low-pressure front and snowstorm in the Northern regions of the country followed by landslides; a snowstorm in the Metropolitan region of Santiago; and a landslide product of a snowstorm in the Chaitén municipality, in the 10th region of Los Lagos (ONEMI, 2018). Overall, 2017 costed the Chilean state around USD\$150 million in disaster and emergency management and risk, about half of the of the decade's average.

The regional distribution of affected inhabitants is shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Distribution of inhabitants affected by natural disasters by region

Number	Region	Number of affected inhabitants	Total inhabitants	Share
Ι	Tarapacá	2124	330558	1%
II	Antofagasta	49874	607534	8%
III	Atacama	395317	286168	138%
IV	Coquimbo	231489	757586	31%
V	Valparaíso	135557	1815902	7%
VI	O'Higgins	13054	914555	1%
VII	Maule	1049428	1044950	100%

VIII	Biobío	567177	1556805	36%
IX	Araucanía	596722	957224	62%
Х	Los Lagos	95652	828708	12%
XI	Aysén	8129	103158	8%
XII	Magallanes	28143	166533	17%
XIII	Metropolitana	391020	7112808	5%
XIV	Arica	22988	226068	10%
XV	Los Ríos	6820	384837	2%

Source: Author's based on ONEMI (2018)

Note: Shares may show over 100% given that disasters are not mutually exclusive. Therefore, these are presented just as an illustrative measure

As has been argued before, Chile's geographic characteristics imply that almost all its territory is exposed to natural hazards. The variety of climates in the national territory also bring a variety of hazards: the north contains the driest desert in the world, whereas the south is crossed by large ice fields and strong winds, both with very deficient communication systems towards the center. In particular, the crossing of the Andes mountains – an intense seismic and volcanic activity area – and the long line of coast line make the country vulnerable to a large variety of disasters, some of which may be prevented but others which are harder to.

As shown in Figure 4, 100% of its population is subject to considerable earthquake damage; almost 80% to winter storm's damage, and more than half to that produced by droughts. Historically, indeed, between 1980 and 2017, the average annual losses due to natural disasters in Chile reached 1.3% of the country's GDP (UNISDR, 2018). Between 2000 and 2016, an average of 2 natural hazards occurred every year, with an economic cost of US\$1 billion. In all of these cases, more than 50% of costs were absorbed by the state. In particular, the 2010 Maule earthquake and tsunami, the largest catastrophe in the last years, caused losses of over US\$30 billion, or 18% of Chilean GDP (Brain & Mora, 2012).



Percentage of likely affected population

Figure 4: Natural hazard exposure and likelihood of damage, Chile, 2017 **Source**: Author's based on MunichRE (2018)

Because of these characteristics, the state of Chile has developed a large set of policies and institutions tasked with the coordination of disaster action, framed under the 5th article of the National Constitution, which states that it is the State's duty to provide safety to the population. Currently, the main instrument in disaster risk management is the National Disaster Risk Reduction Policy (RESDAL, in Spanish), established in 2014. This was the product of a joint assessment between the Chilean government under Michelle Bachelet, and an external evaluation provided by the United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Risk' Hyogo Action Plan, which will be reviewed ahead (ONEMI, 2014a).

Although this is the first national coordinated effort to respond to disasters, previous policies existed spread throughout Chilean institutions. Usually, these have come as a response to large disaster events. For example, after the greatest earthquake registered in history hit the southern city of Valdivia in 1905, the University of Chile established a monitoring system for seismic activity in 1908. The first concrete actions towards disaster risk management came in the early

1930's, with publication of the first building code in 1931 regulating high edification and antiseismic measures, as well as with an analytical effort to identify disaster-prone areas in the General Law of Construction and Urbanization (Sandoval & Voss, 2016).

However, an integral policy was not established until 1964: after a strong earthquake and tsunami in the south and center of Chile, the National Emergency Office (ONEMI, in Spanish) was created, which would act as the articulator of all prevention, response and recuperation against disasters. In 1977, the first organic plan involving all ministries and undersecretaries was created, which was held in place until 2002, when the National Plan of Civil Protection replaced it, considering pre-existing conditions as part of the risk and disaster management policy for the first time. In 2010, the Maule earthquake and tsunami promoted the reorganization of ONEMI into a National System of Civil Protection and Emergency Plan, which included the implementation of a National Agency of Civil Protection.

The current policy, established in 2014, recognizes the human aggravated nature of natural disasters, and attempts to take action for three levels: for families, productive systems and social entrenchments. Because of this, it is built on three main principles: complementarity between private and public actors; decentralization, with the objective of strengthening local capacities and relying on closer-to-source information; and coordination between all levels (ONEMI, 2014b). In practical terms, it implies that each administrative level (regions and municipalities) must have a Civil Protection Committee (CPC), which must create a 'plan' to implement prevention and mitigation actions. CPCs are composed of private and public representatives from a great diversity of local and intermediate government agencies. The costs of these actions are covered by the regional offices budget, meaning that there is great variability within and between regions (Sandoval & Voss, 2016).

Nevertheless, lower and upper levels of administration do not always coordinate their plans, which implies that, at the time of emergency, directives at the local or municipal level can be overridden by upper levels. In addition, despite the declaration of ONEMI as a risk and disaster management agency, its focus has mainly been set on emergency management and response, perhaps as a continuation of its legacy from its initial structure in 1974. Evidence has also found that decision-making has been strongly based on political and mediatic considerations instead of technical ones (Sandoval Henríquez, 2017).

While the policy of disaster management and emergency response has usually been positively highlighted by Chilean press and authorities because of the relatively little number of casualties in the aftermath of disasters, there is strong evidence showing large deficiencies that have enhanced the uneven distribution of disaster impacts. Navia (2010) shows that poor coordination between local, regional and national level, especially in rural areas effectively slowed down first responders and alert systems. Structurally, it has been asserted that the pre-existing conditions of inequality between regions and municipalities regarding economic resources and political tensions have contributed to enhancing impacts over poor and isolated areas, especially those disconnected from centers of power (Elnashai et al., 2010).

Overall, this generates a complex dilemma: the local sphere is the one that handles better and closer information about the reality it is set on, and the one to which citizens go to when they are in emergency situations. However, the disparities between them, the lack of adequate coordination, and the inexistent installed capacities at these levels generate a limited ability to respond to emergencies and disaster policy. In this sense, the policy of disaster and risk management can also be understood as a reproduction of territorial and economic inequalities.

2.2.2 Empirical research

While the empirical research on Chileans' vulnerability has not been extensive, there are some studies that have addressed differentiated distribution of disaster damages, most of which is related to the 2010 Maule earthquake and tsunami. Larrañaga & Herrera (2011) analyze a CASEN survey subsample performed after this disaster in the 5 impacted regions. The authors find that because of localization in more risky areas as well as poorer housing conditions, lower income households were 3 times more exposed to losses and damages from the earthquake and tsunami than higher income ones: overall, 12% of the 1st quintile houses were affected and only 4.6% of the 5th. They conclude that this disaster did not only caused a stronger economic impact in poorer households, but also that they struggled more with post-traumatic stress disorders, delayed school years and water supply problems (Larrañaga & Herrera, 2011).

Within the vulnerability framework, Engel analyzes the effect of the 2010 earthquake in recovery plans in the municipality of Talcahuano. She argues that the middle-classes, and not the poorest groups, struggled the most because they were not eligible for financial assistance, yet still did not make enough money to insure their property (Engel, 2016). Within the same

theoretical standpoint, and using a qualitative analysis of the municipality of Chaiten, Sandoval & Voss (2016) argue that the decentralization of policies acts as a catalyzer for uncoordinated responses and mistrust in public authorities, therefore summing to root conditions of vulnerability posed by poverty, rurality and isolation. This result is corroborated by Valdivieso Fernández (2017) for three municipalities in the region of Maule, who by the use of a mixed methods approach, finds that the amount of resources that municipalities spend in disaster risk prevention is a significant predictor of the number Vasquez et al. (2008) map vulnerabilities using compound indicators based on Cutter (2008) for two municipalities, San Pedro de la Paz and Peñalolen, and find that the biggest predictor for hazard risk is socioeconomic status, and although some richer areas have had evidence of disaster risk, they have been effectively handled in advanced – a process that is not found in poorer neighborhoods.

2.3 Hypotheses

As was exposed before, the aim of this research is to study the relationship between inequalities and vulnerability, by exploring the impact that different factors have over vulnerability to natural disasters and answering to which empirical characteristics increase disaster vulnerability. Based on the reviewed literature and proposed theoretical framework, as well as in the background provided by the Chilean context, this study will seek to evaluate hypotheses regarding the three types of exposed factors and mechanisms (economic entitlement; social and political power; and income inequality).

- 1. Economic capacity and entitlement variables are inversely associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
 - a. Household poverty will be positively associated with likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
 - b. Household income will be negatively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
 - c. Household over-crowdedness will be positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
- 2. Social and political power variables are inversely associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters:

- a. Educational level of the household's head will be positively associated with the likelihood of being affected by natural disasters;
- b. Household's discrimination status will be positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
- c. Household's physical isolation and status of rurality will be positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
- d. Household's social isolation will be positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
- 3. Inequality mechanisms are positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters
 - a. Gini indices will be positively associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters

Because of the expected causal mechanism operating behind these hypotheses, the first two sets are related to the household level, whereas the last set is more related to the regional and municipal level. This is empirically captured through the use of a multilevel logistic model, which will be presented in Section 4.

3 Data

All the data used in this research is part of the Chilean National Socioeconomic Characterization Survey, CASEN, on its 2017 round. The following section will describe the survey's characteristics, as well as the used and constructed variables.

3.1 The CASEN Survey

The National Socioeconomic Characterization Survey of Chile, CASEN, is a cross-sectional survey that has been implemented by the Social Development Ministry since the year 1990 in 12 rounds. Its general objectives are to provide the Chilean state with information regarding poverty and its development, and it focuses particularly in groups defined as a priority by the national social policy. In particular, it has two goals: first, to estimate the magnitude of the country's poverty status as well as income distribution, identifying gaps separating social groups (Ministerio de Desarrollo Social y Familia, 2018); and second, to evaluate the impact of state's social policy estimating coverage, focalization and distribution of fiscal expenditure of the main social programs among households, as well as its distribution across the income range (Ministerio de Desarrollo Social y Familia, 2018).

CASEN is a face-to-face household survey focused in private houses across the Chilean territory, with the smallest unit being a household – or, as defined by the survey, a shared food budget unit. Sampling units are houses, which are sampled in a bi-staged, probabilistic and stratified manner according to geographic area (urban-rural) and population size. Variance strata are built by an area-municipality pair. In the case of one house containing more than one household, all households are surveyed given that the sampling unit is the house.

The key informant of each household is, ideally, the head of household– the person providing main income -, or any adult present in its absence (Ministerio de Desarrollo Social, 2018). Households are then divided into nuclei if necessary, which are defined according to dependency relationships, although no differentiating questions are asked at the nuclear level.

The 2017 round is built in 8 modules: registry, education, work, income, health, identity, networks and participation, and house and environment, with different questions at the house and household level.

The 2017 round was carried between December 2017 and January 2018. Overall, 94.222 houses were sampled estimating a non-response rate of 26,6%, with a maximum of 43% non-response for the Metropolitan region of Santiago. 68.466 houses were kept in the final dataset, adjusting by income ventile (1/20), geographic area and municipality. The survey has national and regional representativeness; and municipal representativeness through expansion factors. All work was performed used provided variance strata.

Table 1 shows the distribution of houses surveyed in each region, according to geographic zone.

Region number	Region name	Houses	Urban	Rural
Ι	Región de Tarapacá	2.974	2733	241
II	Región de Antofagasta	2.511	2348	163
III	Región de Atacama	2.331	2054	277
IV	Región de Coquimbo	3.028	2390	638
IX	Región de La Araucanía	5.136	3622	1514
V	Región de Valparaíso	6.717	5621	1096
VI	Región de O'Higgins	5.099	3585	1514
VII	Región del Maule	5.007	3610	1397
VIII	Región de Biobío	6.901	5761	1140
Х	Región de Los Lagos	4.129	2927	1202
XI	Región de Aysén	1.862	1484	378
XII	Región de Magallanes	2.301	2168	133
XIII	Región Metropolitana	12.954	12227	727
XIV	Región de Los Ríos	3.624	2487	1137
XV	Región de Arica y Parinacota	2.408	2155	253
XVI	Región de Ñuble	2.834	1915	919
Total	National	69.816	57087	12729

Table 3: Sample size according to region and geographic zone, CASEN 2017

Source: Author's based on CASEN 2017

Variable description 3.2

3.2.1 Response variable: Experience of loss due to natural disasters

The main variable used for this research constitutes a proxy for natural disaster impact. It is a CASEN survey question introduced in 2017, as a state attempt to assess the full scope of natural disaster's impact in welfare and poverty, and it is part of the final module of the survey, 'House and Environment' (Ministerio de Desarrollo Social, 2017). In spite of the phrasing asking about the house, the question is asked at the household level. The question specification and response categories as well as its distribution are shown in Table 2.

In the last year, did any of the following disasters caused your house any losses or

damages?				
Type of disaster	Count	Percent		
Earthquake or tsunami	7,951	3.70%		
Flood, alluvium or waterlogging	7,143	3.30%		
Drought	1,682	0.80%		
Wildfires	2,032	0.90%		
Urban fires or explosions	403	0.20%		
Volcanic eruption	38	0.00%		
Landslide or land collapse	113	0.10%		
Frost or snowstorms	2,161	1.00%		
Sanitary emergency or chemical disasters	476	0.20%		
Other; specify	1,105	0.50%		
No, I did not have any losses.	193,217	89.30%		
Non response	118	0.10%		

Table 4: Response variable specification and categories, count and percentage

Source: Author's based on CASEN 2017

As shown in Table 2, the majority of surveyed households were not damaged from natural disasters, but a total of 23,104 houses was, which constitutes over 10% of the total sample. Within those, earthquake and tsunamis, as well as floods concentrate the bulk of causes, with other hazards having relatively small impacts. A residual category for other disasters is also included, although upon further examination, most of the responses were re-categorized in preexisting categories. However, the severity of the impact is not assessed by the survey, neither is a quantification of the damage and houses are not allowed to answer if they have been hit more than once. Because of this, all disasters are included in order to offer a pseudo-control for differences in intensity and event recurrence. Because of the small count of some disasters, they were recoded into a dummy variable. Non responses were included in the '0' values.

Table 5: Dependent variable categories and distribution

Category	Code	Distribution	
Household experienced losses	1	10.6%	
Household did not experience losses	0	89.4%	

As expected, there are relevant differences in geographic concentration of this variable, as shown in Table 6. Regions II, III and XI show the higher percentage of affected houses, all with shares over 20% of surveyed houses; although because of population concentration, the majority of impacted houses locate in the Metropolitan Region of Santiago.

Table 6: Regional distribution of dependent variable, count and percentage

		House	did not	House experienced lesses		
Region		experier	nce losses	riouse experienceu losses		
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	
Ι	Región de Tarapacá	9,429	92.90%	717	7.10%	
Π	Región de Antofagasta	6,615	77.80%	1,888	22.20%	
III	Región de Atacama	5,140	73.90%	1,816	26.10%	
IV	Región de Coquimbo	8,491	85.40%	1,448	14.60%	
V	Región de Valparaíso	17,734	90.40%	1,887	9.60%	
VI	Región del O'Higgins	14,676	92.50%	1,182	7.50%	
VII	Región del Maule	12,935	85.10%	2,265	14.90%	
VIII	Región del Biobío	19,995	92.90%	1,524	7.10%	
IX	Región de La Araucanía	14,165	91.60%	1,307	8.40%	
Х	Región de Los Lagos	11,288	90.70%	1,153	9.30%	
XI	Región de Aysén	4,012	79.50%	1,033	20.50%	
XII	Región de Magallanes	5,806	87.60%	824	12.40%	
XIII	Región Metropolitana	38,620	90.70%	3,957	9.30%	
XIV	Región de Los Ríos	9,792	96.30%	377	3.70%	
XV	Región de Arica y Parinacota	7,071	89.80%	806	10.20%	
XVI	Región de Ñuble	7,448	89.00%	920	11.00%	

Source: Author's based on CASEN 2017

Some regions did not experience any disasters in the examined period, and only show responses in the residual category. Because of this reason, regions in which natural disasters did not occur (as shown in Section 2.2) or were not captured by the survey, were excluded of the analyzed sample. These are Region 1 (Tarapacá), Region VI (O'Higgins), Region 14 (Los Ríos) and Region XVI (Ñuble). The overall working sample included 86% of total affected houses in 2017, and 84% of the total sampled houses.



Figure 5: Percentage of houses affected by natural disasters, regional level **Source**: Author's based on CASEN 2017

In the final working sample, relevant differences in the distribution of affected houses were found also across income levels. Geographically, although the absolute number of households affected by disaster was larger in urban areas due to the greater proportion of population in this zone, rural areas' households were statistically significantly more prone to losses: while 12% of sampled urban houses experienced losses, 20% of rural ones did. As shown in Figure 6, 15% of the total affected households are located in the 1st income decile, and that share decreases as income increases. However, it is worth noting that the decrease is not perfectly linear nor

proportional: in particular, the highest income decile seems to have a relatively large proportion of affected households.





Source: Author's based on CASEN 2017

3.2.2 Other variables

In order to characterize vulnerability of households which experienced losses due to natural disasters, factors based on a list of theoretically informed variables was included in the analysis. Because this research uses a multilevel logistic regression, these were organized in a household level, and a regional and municipal level.

At the house-household level, 12 variables were recorded. Regarding mechanisms of economic entitlement, the household's total income was included, as well as its income decile characterized at the regional level. A dummy variable for multidimensional poverty was also included, using the Chilean Ministry of Social Development's definition of poverty. This is a composite index with components of income, educational access, health access and basic house services such as running water and basic pipelines, which is used to define poverty lines in Chile (Ministerio de Desarrollo Social, 2018). Additionally, dummy variables for deficient house status and over-crowdedness were incorporated, based on assessment by the surveyors.

Regarding mechanisms of political and social power, 5 variables were recorded. First, a characterization of the geographic zone of the house-household in regard of urban or rural location, under the assumption that it captures political and economic exclusion, as well as worse communication infrastructure and slower emergency responses (Gillis Peacock, Gladwin & Morrow, 2012; Sandoval Henríquez, 2017). Also, a variable recording if the household had the status of 'isolated' from state-provided social services was included, as well as one recording if the household lacked social networks - attempting to measure social isolation. Because of the negative effect of illiteracy in emergencies described before, a dummy variable regarding the achievement of primary education of the respondent (the household head) was included. Although this is an individual variable, it functions under the assumption that if the main household income holder has not achieved primary education, then probably the remaining adult members have not either. A variable asking if members of the household had been discriminated against was included, incorporating all factors of discrimination that the question surveyed. A dummy variable recording belonging to indigenous population was recorded, given Chilean's particular history of indigenous people's economic and political discrimination and isolation.

At the municipal and regional level, regarding mechanisms of inequality, the Gini Index at the regional and municipal level were calculated and recorded. A variable recording the share of population in the most basic social program – Permanent Family Subsidy -, as a proxy for the municipal and regional's level of income and capacity to dedicate resources to natural disasters' response was added, following Sandoval & Voss (2016). Also, as contextual variables, in this level regions and municipalities were included in the model as second level variables. Table 7 shows the summary of included variables, and summary statistics and categories can be found in Appendix A.

Mechanism	Factor	Categories	Туре	Record level	Expected impact
	Total income		Continuous	Household	-
	Total income (log)		Continuous	Household	-
	Regional income decile	1-10	Ordinal	Household	-
Economic capacity and	Poverty status	Non-poor (0), poor (1)	Categorical	Household	+
entitiement	Deficient housing status	Non-deficient (0), deficient (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Over-crowdedness status	Non overcrowded (0), Overcrowded (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Geographic zone	Urban (0), rural (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Physical isolation status	Non-isolated (0), Isolated (1)	Categorical	Household	+
Political and	Social isolation status	Non-isolated (0), Isolated (1)	Categorical	Household	+
social power	Educational level	non below primary (0), Below primary (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Discrimination status	Non discriminated (0), discriminated (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Indigenous population belonging	Does not belong (0), belongs (1)	Categorical	Household	+
	Municipal Gini Index		Continuous	Municipal	+
Inequality	Regional Gini Index		Continuous	Regional	+
	Share of houses in family subsidy		Continuous	Municipal	+
Context	Region		Categorical	Regional	
Context	Municipality		Categorical	Municipal	

Table 7: Variables summary

3.2.3 Data limitations

Regarding the response variable, an important limitation comes from the lack of quantification in the level of damage due to natural disasters. While some houses may have experienced little dysfunctions, others may have been completely destroyed and they would be coded in the same way for surveying processes. In the same matter, houses affected more than once were not able to register this, which could be under-reporting the damage of particularly exposed territories.

Other limitations come from the survey design and its field work, in particular, from the exclusion criteria for sampling, which could cause coverage bias. According to the sampling design, two criteria are used in order to exclude areas from being selected: first, 22 municipalities that are remote and do not house more than 10.000 inhabitants; and second, blocks that have less than 7 houses. This generates a bias excluding two relevant groups of the

performed analysis: the most spatially isolated segments of the population, and the wealthier sectors, who live in bigger houses that even in urban areas, are more sparsely distributed. Because of this, the 10th income decile is comparatively much smaller than the remaining ones and reaches only 63% of the number of sampled houses in the 1-5th. Specifically, concerns regarding the representativeness of the 10th decile have been risen regarding the sample size, but also, regarding who answers the questionnaire, a task that has been documented to fall in house staff in higher income households. Overall, the representation quality of the highest decile is usually worse than the remaining income brackets. Nevertheless, if anything, the exclusion of these groups would likely cause an underestimation of the results.

On the other hand, there are limitations coming from working at the household and house level. Most people experience and respond to disasters as members of households and houses (Morrow, 1999), and damages are usually experienced in collective levels as well, which makes it the smallest level prone to analysis. Nevertheless, some information is lost from the analysis at this level, like the specific influences of gender and women-led houses, as well as the dependence composition of the household, which could increase vulnerability and risk significantly, as has been studied by individual-level case studies (Bolin & Klenow, 1983; Neumayer & Plümper, 2007). However, addressing these issues is only possible in small-N studies, and diminishes some of the generalization of the analysis.

Finally, the use of survey data, and specially government-produced one, brings around several respondent's bias. Non-responses could be more frequent among people who do not trust the government, those who hold illegal immigration status or live in illegally established housing communities, for example. Moreover, an income survey brings insecurities regarding cross-referencing of information which could lead to underestimations of salaries and other measurements. Other measurements bias could come from mishandling information, as well. In spite of these limitations, CASEN has been proven a tested survey that has been the base for Chilean social policy for decades which has attempted to minimize these risks by using an overestimated sample.

4 Methodology

4.1 Multilevel logistic regressions

This research employs a quantitative approach based on a multilevel logistic regression model. Multilevel regression models are based on the assumption that context is relevant in understanding social phenomena, but since group observations may not always hold for individuals, econometric modelling should be adjusted to prevent ecological fallacies (Freedman, 1999). The traditional approach for tackling this issue has been to disaggregate group-level information in order to tie all predictors to the individual level of analysis; however, this leads to several problems. First, the contextual error term gets pooled into the single individual error term of the model, and individuals in the same context will have correlated errors violating basic assumptions of regression modeling. Moreover, ignoring context implies that regression coefficients apply to all individuals in the same way, which may bias results (Shiverdecker & LeBreton, 2018).

In the case of this research, context is hardly overestimated. Regional and municipal location of houses determine physical closeness to natural hazards risk, but also other variables relevant in establishing vulnerability such as isolation, geographical zones and income levels. In particular for the Chilean case, deployment of first responders and emergency signals are managed at the municipal and regional level, which implies that national territories may have different speeds of response as well as effectiveness in doing so (Valdivieso Fernández, 2017).

Therefore, after checking that single-level logistic regression produced biased and clustered error terms, a multilevel regression model was found to be most useful for this analysis and will be used in analyzing the likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters. Multilevel regressions, also called random coefficient models or variance components models, are a hierarchical system of equations in which the intercept and slope are allowed to vary across the different groups of the higher level. In this sense, the first level of the regression equation is a fixed-effects models, whereas the upper level acts as a random effect regression model (Luke, 2011). Therefore, the single prediction equation is a mixed-effects models.

For this research, the response variable is binary, so a logistic multilevel method was employed, using a maximum likelihood estimation. These models attempt to estimate the odds or likelihood of an event's occurrence, or the conditional probability of an outcome variable = 1 at a certain point, given by:

$$P(Y_i = 1) = \frac{\exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 \dots)}{1 + \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 \dots)}$$

The implication of using a multilevel approach in a logistic model is that the log-odds that the outcome variable equals 1 instead of 0 may vary according to different groups, allowing for the interaction of regional and municipal variables to determine the household components: instead of estimating the probability of experiencing losses due to natural disasters in Chile, the multilevel model does estimate the probability in Chile, in each individual region or municipality. Statistically, this is defined by

$$P(Y_{i} = 1) = logit^{-1} (X_{i}G_{j[i]} + X_{i}\alpha_{j[i]}),$$

where X_i represents the measurements on the individual level variables – house/household -, and G_j does so at the second level variables – region. Empirically, this is measured by the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), defined as:

$$ICC = \frac{var(\mu_{0j})}{var(\mu_{0j}) + (\frac{\pi^2}{3})}$$

Overall, the higher the ICC, the more residuals are dependent upon cluster membership. In this case, ICC has a value of 0.22 for regions and 0.26 for municipalities, which means that 22% and 26% of the likelihood of experiencing loss due to a natural disaster is marginally explained by regional differences, justifying the need for a multilevel approach. This is shown in Figures 4 and 5, where the random effects for each municipality and region is graphed: as can be seen, most of the municipalities and all regions but Region 8 – Biobío - have a statistically different from 0 impact on the estimation of likelihood of loss over natural disasters.



Figure 7: Random effect slope margin of municipal belonging, Municipality as second-level variable.



Figure 8: Random effect slope margin of regional belonging, Region as second-level variable.

Following the theoretical reasoning presented in Section 2, and data availability given in Section 3, this research will work with four models' specification. Models 1, 2 and 3 will be tested at the national level, and Model 4 will be tested for all included regions individually.

All models include variables at the household (fixed) and regional/municipal (random) level, denoted β and μ , respectively. Models 1 includes total logarithmic household income, whereas Models 2 and 3 include income decile. Model 1 includes the regional Gini index, and Model 3 includes the municipal Gini. All other variables are kept constant. For the analysis of each region, the same specification of Model 3 is used, replacing variables recorded at the regional level for those at the municipal level.

Model 1

$$\pi_{nat.dis.loss} = \beta_{Income(log)} + \beta_{Poverty} + \beta_{Deficient\ housing} + \beta_{Over-crowdedness} + \beta_{Zone} + \beta_{Physical\ isolation} + \beta_{Social\ isolation} + \beta_{Educational\ level} + \beta_{Discrimination} + \beta_{Indigenous} + \mu_{Regional\ Gini} + \mu_{Region} + \varepsilon$$

Model 2

$$\pi_{nat.dis.loss} = \beta_{Income \ Decile} + \beta_{Poverty} + \beta_{Deficient \ housing} + \beta_{Over-crowdedness} + \beta_{Zone} + \beta_{Physical \ isolation} + \beta_{Social \ isolation} + \beta_{Educational \ level} + \beta_{Discrimination} + \beta_{Indigenous} + \mu_{Regional \ Gini} + \mu_{Region} + \varepsilon$$

Model 3

$$\pi_{nat.dis.loss} = \beta_{Income \ Decile} + \beta_{Poverty} + \beta_{Deficient \ housing} + \beta_{Over-crowdedness} + \beta_{Zone} + \beta_{Physical \ isolation} + \beta_{Social \ isolation} + \beta_{Educational \ level} + \beta_{Discrimination} + \beta_{Indigenous} + \mu_{Municipal \ Gini} + \mu_{Region} + \varepsilon$$

For regional analysis,

Model 4

$$\pi_{nat.dis.loss} = \beta_{Income \ Decile} + \beta_{Poverty} + \beta_{Deficient \ housing} + \beta_{Over-crowdedness} + \beta_{Zone} + \beta_{Physical \ isolation} + \beta_{Social \ isolation} + \beta_{Educational \ level} + \beta_{Discrimination} + \beta_{Indigenous} + \mu_{Municipal \ Gini} + \mu_{Region} + \varepsilon$$

4.1.1 Methodological limitations

For this type of data and research question, multilevel models provide a stronger basis for statistical analysis than traditional, single-level models. However, the use of multilevel modelling does not come without limitations. By introducing regions and municipalities as second-level variables, the relevance of context is being addressed allowing for difference intercepts to vary. However, variation could be occurring within these levels due to non-random errors due to omitted variables. The use of a wide variety of disasters attempts to control this error, but it is possible that in some regions or municipalities some disasters were concentrated within municipalities affecting a specific population. Because of this, within-cluster margins are also estimated and presented in the following section. Finally, another consideration may come from the fact that municipalities and regions may not be relevant for context in natural disasters' associated losses at all (Gelman, 2006; Wooldridge, 2002). While there are theoretical reasons to believe so in this particular research, this concerned is also addressed empirically by analyzing variance shares.

5 Empirical Analysis

The general purpose of a multilevel logistic regression is to estimate the odds of an event occurring, while simultaneously considering the dependency of data. In this case, this implies that the likelihood of natural disasters' related losses is also dependent on the belonging to a region or municipality, due to the fact that disasters are not equally distributed across the territory, but also because, as exposed before, regions and municipalities determine reactions to disasters. In this context, results for multilevel regression models are presented in Tables 8 and 10. Outcomes are presented as odds, or as the likelihood of losses occurring/losses not occurring. Diagnostic tests for all models in this section are presented in Appendix B.

5.1 National level analysis

Table 8 shows the results for the national analysis. Variables' odds are to be interpreted as in comparison to households altering the selected variable but keeping all remaining characteristics at mean values; and as a multilevel model, the regional grouping implies that estimations and comparisons are valid for households within the same region.

The model predicts that 11% of the sample suffered losses due to disasters, which is close to sample ratio of 10.4%. Regarding factors of economic entitlement, Model 1 shows that for two households located in the same region and with the same characteristics, being poor will give a 30% increase in odds, which is statistically significant at a 1% level. This implies a large practical effect, in which poverty increases likelihood of disaster losses between 23% and 31%. This result seems to be robust across all model specifications: models 2 and 3 also result in significant and positive odds increases between 44% and 51%.

The effect of income in Model 1, however, shows that there is a positive and statistically significant association with natural disaster's damage, which is contrary to the expected effects and what is suggested by the literature. When examining the marginal effect of this variable, as shown in Figure 9, it is found that the effect stays relatively flat until an approximate income of CLP\$1,000,000, which is

over the threshold for the 10th decile. Therefore, it seems that it is the richest share of the population for which income has an increasing effect, able to skew the results of the income variable. Indeed, analyzing Models 2 and 3, in which specifications include income decile instead of income, it is found that deciles 2-8 show a decrease of odds in comparison to the 1st decile, and only the 10th implies an increase in odds in similar households.



Figure 9: Marginal effect of income over natural disaster's losses likelihood

Two more variables are included in the economic capacity mechanisms, but only one of them is statistically significant; deficient housing status, which shows similar coefficients across model specifications. Compared to similar households in the same region, houses in deficient status will, expectedly, experience a 20% odds' increase in likelihood of disaster losses. Over-crowdedness is not statistically significant.

When it comes to mechanisms related to social and political power, results are consistent with expectations and they seem to show that lower power is associated with higher likelihood of losses due natural disasters. The greatest impact is given by geographic zone. A rural household, in comparison to a similar one in the same region, will increase the odds of losses by 75%, with confidence interval between 65% and 80%, the largest impact in the model. This is consistent across all models and implies an estimated increase in probabilities of around 42-48%. However, all three models show a number of relevant variables in this category. Physical isolation is also statistically significant and is associated with an 11% increase in odds of suffering losses due to disasters in all models, compared to houses within the same cluster. So is belonging to a household that has experienced discrimination, which brings an increase of odds by 27% in average among similar households in the same region. Finally, belonging to

an indigenous people is also positively and significantly associated with odds increases of 8% in Model 1 and of 8,5% in Models 2 and 3, however, in practical terms, it implies a probability increase of around 5%, smaller than other variables.

Regarding income inequality variables, only the inclusion of municipal level Gini is statistically significant and has the expected directionality. However, Gini recorded at the regional level as shown in models 1 and 2 are not statistically significant. Since this variable is a second-level variable, its effect impacts on the slope and not directly on the estimation. Figure 10, however, shows the marginal effects.



Figure 10: Marginal effect of Gini Index over natural disaster's losses likelihood

Finally, as was argued before, regional grouping is statistically significant across model specifications, which shows evidence for the validity of multilevel modelling as a methodological strategy.

		Iviouel 1		widuel 2		Iviouel 5	
Level	Variables	Estimates	Odds Ratio	Estimates	Odds Ratio	Estimates	Odds Ratio
Household	Income (log)	0.099*** (0.012)	1.104*** (0.013)				
	Regional income decile $= 2$			-0.117*** (0.033)	0.890*** (0.029)	-0.117*** (0.033)	0.890*** (0.029)
	Regional income decile $= 3$			-0.017 (0.033)	0.983 (0.032)	-0.017 (0.033)	0.984 (0.032)
	Regional income decile $= 4$			-0.100*** (0.034)	0.905*** (0.031)	-0.099*** (0.034)	0.905*** (0.031)
	Regional income decile $= 5$			-0.001972	0.944* (0.032)	-0.0019652	0.944* (0.032)
	Regional income decile $= 6$			-0.117*** (0.035)	0.890*** (0.031)	-0.117*** (0.036)	0.890*** (0.031)
	Regional income decile $= 7$			-0.039 (0.036)	0.961 (0.034)	-0.040 (0.036)	0.961 (0.034)
	Regional income decile $= 8$			-0.088** (0.037)	0.916** (0.034)	-0.090** (0.037)	0.914** (0.034)
	Regional income decile $= 9$			0.038 (0.037)	1.039 (0.038)	0.034 (0.037)	1.034 (0.038)
	Regional income decile = 10			0.166*** (-0.038)	1.081*** (0.044)	0.159*** (0.038)	1.073*** (0.044)
	Poverty status = 1	0.1099*** (0.024)	1.304*** (0.026)	0.1840*** (0.024)	1.488*** (0.026)	0.184*** (0.024)	1.487*** (0.026)
	Deficient housing status $= 1$	0.181*** (0.023)	1.199*** (0.028)	0.174*** (0.023)	1.190*** (0.027)	0.175*** (0.023)	1.191*** (0.027)
	Over-crowdedness status = 1	-0.083 (0.030)	0.920 (0.027)	-0.113 (0.023)	0.893 (0.027)	-0.113 (0.030)	0.893 (0.027)
	Zone = Rural	0.551*** (0.023)	1.736*** (0.040)	0.545*** (-0.023)	1.752*** (0.040)	0.552*** (0.023)	1.737*** (0.040)
	Physical isolation $= 1$, Isolated	0.114*** (0.029)	1.120*** (0.032)	0.109*** (0.030)	1.116*** (0.033)	0.108*** (0.029)	1.114*** (0.032)
	Social isolation = 1, Isolated	-0.001 (0.018)	0.999 (0.018)	0.002 (0.018)	1.002 (0.018)	0.003 (0.019)	1.003 (0.019)
	Educational level = 0 , Below primary education	0.017 (0.018)	1.017 (0.018)	0.007 (-0.018)	1.007 (0.018)	0.007 (0.018)	1.007 (0.018)
	Discrimination status = 1, Discriminated against	0.239*** (0.023)	1.270*** (0.029)	0.235*** (0.023)	1.265*** (0.029)	0.234*** (0.023)	1.263*** (0.029)
	Belongs to indigenous people = 1, Belongs	0.081*** (0.025)	1.084*** (0.027)	0.076*** (-0.025)	1.078*** (0.026)	0.076*** (0.025)	1.079*** (0.026)
Region	Municipal Gini					0.290* (0.164)	
	Regional Gini	-4.794 (4.440)		-4.565 (4.563)			
	Constant	-1.408 (1.819)		-0.221 (1.865)		-2.193*** (0.161)	
	Regional constant	0.222** (0.091)		0.235** (0.096)		0.254** (0.104)	
	Observations	164,973	164,973	165,076	165,076	165,076	165,076
	Number of groups	12	12	12	12	12	12

Table 8: Multilevel logistic regression estimation over likelihood of loss due to natural disaster – House/household as base level, region as context level Model 1 Model 2

Standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

5.2 Within-regions analysis

Table 10 shows the results for the national analysis. Variables' odds are to be interpreted as in comparison to households changing the selected variable and keeping all remaining characteristics at mean values; and as a multilevel model, the municipal grouping implies that estimations and comparisons are valid for households within the same municipality. Only odds are shown, but coefficients can be found in Appendix B. Table 9 shows the goodness of fit of all regional models.

	Predicted Probability at means	Observed	Difference
Region 2	22.40%	22.20%	-0.002
Region 3	26.10%	26.20%	0.001
Region 4	14.79%	14.57%	-0.002
Region 5	9.49%	9.62%	0.001
Region 7	14.79%	14.90%	0.001
Region 8	7.03%	7.08%	0.001
Region 9	8.23%	8.45%	0.002
Region 10	9.38%	9.27%	-0.001
Region 11	20.25%	20.48%	0.002
Region 12	12.41%	12.43%	0.000
Region 13	9.25%	9.29%	0.000
Region 15	9.99%	10.23%	0.002

Table 9: Predicted and observed values of the dependent variable across regions

Regarding factors of economic entitlement, the majority of regions show a significant and positive impact of being poor over the likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters, with the exception of Region XII (Magallanes); and Region XV (Los Ríos). For all 9 remaining ones, the impact varies between 34% odds increase in Region XI (Aysén), to 8% increase in Region VIII (Biobío). This is related to a 38% increase in likelihood in Aysén to a much more limited increase of 9% in Biobío. Deficient housing status and over-crowdedness are both statistically significant and have the expected direction, showing that the presence of both factors increase likelihood of losses due to disasters. In four regions – Valparaíso (V), Biobío (VIII), Aysén (XI) and Metropolitana (XIII) -, they are both statistically significant. However, keeping all factors constant, the magnitude of the effects varies greatly: in Region III (Atacama), the impact of deficient housing increases odds by 103%, which only reaches 20% in Region XV (Los Ríos). Unlike poverty, over-crowdedness shows the highest probability increase in Region XI (Aysén), with an

expected odds-increase of 80%, and the lowest in Region III (Atacama). In urban regions like Region XIII (Metropolitana) and V (Valparaíso), this factor has the largest positive impact over odds.

As the national analysis suggested, the effect of income decile is not linear, and it varies greatly between regions. For example, while Regions III (Atacama) and VII (Maule) show an inverse relationship between this factor and losses' likelihood, Regions XV and V show that almost all income deciles have a higher likelihood of losses than the first decile. In Region II (Tarapacá), the impact is concentrated in the middle of the distribution. Overall, as shown at the national level, the effect of this variable is not robust across regions and is greatly subject to variation.

For factors related to mechanisms of social and political power, the results of rurality confirmed what was found at the national level. In households within the same municipality, and across all regions, the impact of belonging to a rural house instead of an urban one increases the likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters. The magnitude varies between regions: while Regions V (Valparaíso), XI (Aysén) and XV (Los Ríos) show moderate increases of 20% in odds, Regions XI, IX and X evidence a marginal effect increase of odds by 180%, 150% and 138% on average, respectively. The only region for which this variable is not significant is Region III (Atacama), for which the coefficient of physical isolation is much higher than for the other regions, which implies that it could be taking some of that impact. Indeed, physical isolation at is significant for half of the regions (the ones with smaller impacts in geographic zone) and shows similar odds increases than the ones found at the national level, around 20% increase with an interval between 13% and 28%. In the same mechanism, the discrimination factor is also found significant for several regions; in particular those highly urbane, and the contrary is true for belonging to an indigenous people. For the first case, the largest impacts increase odds by 90% and 75% in Regions IV and VIII for similar households within the same municipality.

Finally, regarding the inequality variable, its specification as a second-level variable implies that its effect is a slope shifting one, not one over odds ration. However, unlike the national level, the impact of income inequality is not significant for most of the regions, and for those in which it is, it is extremely small. The municipal constant is significant for all regions, implying that differences attributable to municipal characteristics are relevant for the model.

Table 10: Multilevel logistic regression estimation for regional models over likelihood of loss because of natural disaster - Household as base level, municipality as context level. Odds ratios

Variables	Region 2	Region 3	Region 4	Region 5	Region 7	Region 8	Region 9	Region 10	Region 11	Region 12	Region 13	Region 15
D 11 11 0	1.033	0.644***	0.758**	1.191*	0.698***	0.677***	1.344**	0.683***	0.866	1.219	0.876	1.524**
Regional income decile = 2	(0.118)	(0.081)	(0.095)	(0.126)	(0.069)	(0.074)	(0.176)	(0.100)	(0.138)	(0.200)	(0.072)	(0.251)
D'1'1'1'2	1.042	0.609	1.169	1.048	0.802**	0.686***	1.115	1.058	1.057	0.876	1.144*	1.424**
Regional income deche = 3	(0.122)	(0.113)	(0.142)	(0.115)	(0.077)	(0.081)	(0.156)	(0.145)	(0.166)	(0.153)	(0.091)	(0.240)
Regional income decile = 4	1.105	0.675***	0.894	1.203*	0.567***	0.975	1.603***	1.054	0.713**	1.022	0.774***	1.192
	(0.130)	(0.0874)	(0.114)	(0.134)	(0.0589)	(0.108)	(0.217)	(0.145)	(0.119)	(0.170)	(0.0686)	(0.206)
Designal income desile = 5	1.400***	0.647***	0.912	1.426***	0.572***	0.781**	1.182	0.615***	1.055	0.875	1.043	1.054
Regional income decile = 5	(0.160)	(0.0837)	(0.120)	(0.156)	(0.060)	(0.093)	(0.171)	(0.094)	(0.172)	(0.152)	(0.084)	(0.190)
Regional income decile = 6	1.057	0.653***	1.014	1.083	0.522***	1.056	1.451***	0.995	1.167	0.761	0.840**	0.716*
	(0.127)	(0.0862)	(0.136)	(0.128)	(0.0581)	(0.121)	(0.207)	(0.147)	(0.191)	(0.141)	(0.073)	(0.144)
היים או <i>ה</i>	0.918	0.538***	0.936	1.091	0.648***	0.769**	1.362**	1.146	1.265	1.343*	0.937	1.565***
Regional income deche – /	(0.119)	(0.0744)	(0.126)	(0.131)	(0.0704)	(0.0958)	(0.204)	(0.173)	(0.203)	(0.227)	(0.082)	(0.312)
Perional income decile – 8	1.059	0.460**	0.705**	1.485***	0.708***	0.578***	1.366**	0.781	0.651**	0.800	0.942	0.819
Regional income deche – 8	(0.137)	(0.104)	(0.103)	(0.176)	(0.0785)	(0.0823)	(0.211)	(0.127)	(0.118)	(0.148)	(0.082)	(0.168)
Perional income decile – 0	1.017	0.339	0.931	1.457***	0.780**	0.804	1.068	0.728*	0.779	0.897	0.961	1.166
Regional meonie deene – 9	(0.141)	(0.130)	(0.130)	(0.178)	(0.0884)	(0.109)	(0.175)	(0.128)	(0.140)	(0.169)	(0.083)	(0.223)
Pagional income decile – 10	1.189	0.272	0.734**	1.357**	0.629***	1.065	1.355*	1.064	0.992	0.892	1.042	0.874
Regional meome deene – 10	(0.184)	(0.133)	(0.115)	(0.179)	(0.0791)	(0.153)	(0.229)	(0.189)	(0.184)	(0.167)	(0.090)	(0.181)
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{O}\mathbf{V}}$ erty status – 1	1.228**	1.169*	1.113**	1.139*	1.136*	1.078*	1.177*	1.128*	1.342***	0.814	1.157**	0.850
Poverty status = 1	(0.082)	(0.095)	(0.074)	(0.080)	(0.079)	(0.081)	(0.102)	(0.094)	(0.151)	(0.117)	(0.062)	(0.105)
Deficient housing status = 1	1.444***	2.389***	1.076	1.371***	0.900	1.371***	0.913	1.022	1.781**	1.550***	1.196***	1.122
Deficient nousing status – 1	(0.119)	(0.176)	(0.085)	(0.097)	(0.065)	(0.106)	(0.080)	(0.115)	(0.091)	(0.206)	(0.072)	(0.124)
Over groudedness status = 1	0.972	0.886	1.453***	1.714***	1.072	1.503***	0.928	0.818	1.580***	1.126	1.802***	1.084
Over-crowdedness status = 1	(0.097)	(0.096)	(0.146)	(0.080)	(0.099)	(0.153)	(0.103)	(0.111)	(0.102)	(0.185)	(0.057)	(0.152)

Zone – Dural	2.186***	0.860	1.769***	1.240***	1.690***	2.004***	2.370***	2.155***	1.248*	2.779***	1.484***	1.283***
Zone – Kurai	(0.405)	(0.092)	(0.157)	(0.095)	(0.103)	(0.162)	(0.193)	(0.181)	(0.152)	(0.451)	(0.155)	(0.158)
Physical isolation = 1, Isolated	0.851	1.460***	1.243**	1.336***	1.180**	1.172	1.023	1.164*	1.093	0.828	1.309***	0.729
	(0.121)	(0.146)	(0.089)	(0.117)	(0.094)	(0.122)	(0.091)	(0.105)	(0.159)	(0.163)	(0.080)	(0.159)
Social isolation = 1 Isolated	1.193*	1.080	0.974	1.009	0.970	1.105	0.962	1.081	0.934	1.044	1.006	0.873
Social Isolation – 1, Isolated	(0.081)	(0.077)	(0.066)	(0.057)	(0.054)	(0.073)	(0.067)	(0.084)	(0.077)	(0.096)	(0.040)	(0.077)
	0.986	1.019	1.022	1.039	0.964	0.997	1.007	1.056	0.916	1.173*	0.990	0.857*
Educational level = 0, Below primary	(0.064)	(0.067)	(0.066)	(0.061)	(0.051)	(0.062)	(0.066)	(0.077)	(0.073)	(0.104)	(0.042)	(0.078)
	1.173*	1.472***	1.902***	1.192**	1.056	1.756***	1.174*	1.057	1.424***	0.843	1.235***	1.113
Discrimination status = 1, Discriminated	(0.099)	(0.129)	(0.173)	(0.086)	(0.0853)	(0.138)	(0.110)	(0.123)	(0.160)	(0.131)	(0.057)	(0.132)
	0.959	1.371***	0.515***	1.074	1.060	0.802**	0.861**	1.235***	0.929	0.989	1.021	1.208**
Belongs to indigenous people = 1, Belongs	(0.106)	(0.107)	(0.083)	(0.143)	(0.156)	(0.085)	(0.064)	(0.095)	(0.079)	(0.093)	(0.080)	(0.108)
	0.001	3.4e- ⁷ ***	6.474	0.0872	0.975	5.291	2.689	0.194	1.288	1.37e ⁻⁵ **	16.65	9.711
Coefficient of Municipal Gini	(0.004)	(1.77e ⁻⁶)	(0.34)	(0.228)	(2.583)	(4.002)	(0.412)	(0.971)	(8.691e ⁷)	(2.82e ⁻⁵)	(15.094)	(0.143)
Coefficient of Constant	3.053	99.97**	0.0553	0.149**	0.216	0.0262***	0.0331***	0.0809	0.001***	11.08***	0.026***	0.040
	(5.620)	(187.1)	(0.111)	(0.140)	(0.202)	(0.0271)	(0.0388)	(0.159)	(0.00106)	(9.097)	(0.0189)	(0.099)
Coefficient of Municipal Constant	1.733*	1.262**	2.238**	2.215***	1.904***	3.094***	1.611***	17.05***	1.197	1	2.093***	1
	(0.492)	(0.149)	(0.791)	(0.520)	(0.342)	(1.000)	(0.212)	(17.75)	(0.143)	(0)	(0.323)	(0)
Observations	7,826	6,502	9,484	19,004	14,602	20,989	14,927	12,092	4,907	6,309	41,040	7,394
Number of groups	8	9	15	36	30	33	32	25	6	3	52	3

Standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

5.3 Between-region analysis

While the previous analyses show the impact of different individual variables within regions and municipalities, multilevel regressions also allow for analyses in which the household and context level interact. For this, the probability margins of natural disaster related losses at the mean values of the regional samples according to all factors was estimated. Then, probability margins for models including all factors at risk values at household levels were estimated. Appendix B has the specification for these calculations, and the results of these estimations are shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11: Probability of household experiencing loss due to natural disasters at model mean values and model risk values

These results show that the analyzed factors have significant and large impacts over the likelihood of experiencing losses due to natural disasters. At the national level, the interaction of all risk factors is associated with a statistically significant probability increase of 11 percentage points. A household that is simultaneously poor, with deficient, overcrowded housing, living in a rural area, physically isolated, without social networks, in which the household head did not reach primary education, that has experienced discrimination and that belongs to an indigenous people, has a 22% likelihood of experiencing losses due to a natural disaster, whereas an average one does so at an 11% rate. While the likelihood of this scenario occurring is extremely low (less than 2% of the sample), it shows that the interaction of these

variables has a significant impact in establishing vulnerabilities. At the regional level, the differences are great as well, with the largest difference between mean and risk values showed in Region II (Tarapacá), in which it reaches an average of 15 percentage points. Regions XIII (Metropolitana) and XV (Los Ríos) show the smallest difference, of an average of 9 percentage points.

5.4 Discussion

This research is grounded within the inequalities of vulnerabilities literature, which is a perspective that understands structural factors or root conditions —economic, political, social—, like 'social relations' and 'structures of domination' as a constitutive element of disasters and risks (Hilhorst & Bankoff, 2004; Wisner et al., 2004). This starting fundamental to position the exposed results within the literature and in a broader empirical context.

In this regard, this research had 3 main hypotheses. The first one stated that *economic capacity and entitlement variables are inversely associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters*. The conducted empirical research found that most of the factors related to economic capacity were indeed inversely associated with losses from natural disasters, with the exception of income. In particular, poverty was found to be consistently increasing the likelihood of experiencing losses consistently at the national level and for almost all regions. Overall, this finding is consistent with the theoretical framework, but also with the previous research of disaster damage distribution in Chile. Poorer households have little financial reserves for supplies prior to an announced natural hazard, and for buying reconstruction materials in the aftermath of a sudden one. Even within the municipal and regional controls, in Chile poorer households tend to be located in less safe areas; and they have more chance of being informal and therefore not in conformance with anti-seismic building regulations. In this sense, this research has found evidence that poverty is an increasing factor in natural disaster vulnerability.

Regarding income, the results seem to be less clear. At the national level, the effect of income is found to be positive. At the regional level, it seems that the distribution of income is even less straightforward than at the national level: some regions even show a statistically significant increase in odds for higher deciles. This result is contrasting with that of poverty. While this

result is contrasting with the macro and multi-country literature, poverty being significant and income not being so is consistent with the analysis of Kellenberg & Mobarak (2008), who argue for the decreasing impact of income over disaster risk. In the case of Chile in particular, a possible explanation can be found in the distribution of property: while the average household has a 12% likelihood of experiencing losses due to disasters, this number increases to 17% among those who own more than 1 property. 98% of those who own more than 1 property are indeed located in the 10th decile, which could be over-estimating their likelihood of experiencing losses. Moreover, as was argued before, the representativeness of this decile is somewhat inferior to that of the rest of the sample, which could speak of this group's data quality. It is also likely that the magnitude of damage may come into play when reporting to the survey. Overall, and while there are several possible explanations in addressing this issue, it is not possible to assure that household income is negatively associated with likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters.

Finally, there seems to be empirical evidence to back up the hypothesis that household overcrowdedness is positively related to disaster risk losses, but with some nuances regarding the interaction with house material conditions. Although at the national level this variable was not found significant, the regional level showed that groups in which deficient housing conditions was significant would not be significant in this factor and vice-versa; which may provide evidence to think that these two factors are related and capturing the same phenomena of material conditions of housing and living. Moreover, the regional analysis showed that overcrowdedness was the largest predictor for more urbanized regions concentrating the greater metropolitan areas of the country, which suggests that as an urban concern, it could be related to the decreased quality product of housing policy exposed in Section 2.

The second hypothesis stated that *social and political power variables are inversely associated with the likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters*. At the national level, it is possible to find evidence supporting the claims that belonging to rural areas and being isolated were positively associated with likelihood of disaster-related losses. The first one of these factors was the biggest predictor of the national level model, which was also confirmed at the regional level. This is a claim supported by the theoretical framework, which states that there is less political pressure to acknowledge the needs of rural and isolated population, but also that isolated groups will have less access to information technology, relief aid and other mechanisms that can decrease their losses. Qualitative studies in Chile have also recorded that isolated areas

have less resources and are rescued slower than urban areas. In this sense, rurality and isolation can be understood as relevant causes of vulnerability to natural disasters.

Social isolation and educational level of the household's head were not found to be significant, and therefore, there is not enough evidence to support the claim that they are positively associated with likelihood of suffering losses due to natural disasters. However, being discriminated was found to increase likelihood of experiencing natural disasters' related losses at the national and the individual level. This factor's impact has not been addressed by any other Chilean research, but it is consisted with the American and Brazilian studies which have shown similar inequalities distribution (Bandyopadhyay, 2016; Rasch, 2017).

As it is expected, all of these factors are related to the structures that generate income inequality, which is reflected in the Gini index variable significance. Although this is not a household factor so its direct impact cannot be calculated, its coefficients show that at both the national and some of the regions, the context of higher income inequality will significatively shift the slope for the whole region or municipality: meaning that households in higher inequality settings are more likely to experience natural disasters than other households. In that sense, higher income inequality will positively impact natural disasters' vulnerability.

The inclusion of municipal and regional grouping, finally, provided controls for addressing the differences in these administrative groups' capacity in dealing with natural disasters. As was argued, the policy environment of Chile has been deficient at addressing general root causes of vulnerability, but in particular, the decentralization of disaster risk policy has acted as a booster of inequalities of disaster-related losses. While this has not been tested empirically in this research, these effects have been extensively addressed by the literature (Engel, 2016; Sandoval Henríquez, 2017; Sandoval & Voss, 2016; Valdivieso Fernández, 2017).

With the evaluation of these results, it is necessary to address the question of whether disasters and risks respond to social constructions. In this concern, and in the line that the literature of inequalities of vulnerabilities has stated, it seems that disasters and its related damage have evidence of being socially mediated, therefore so is disaster vulnerability. As the results of this research suggest, there are fundamental issues related to root causes that mediate the likelihood of disaster damage, both at the household level and at the contextual level. However, although this research has made an effort to empirically differentiate the factors building disaster vulnerability, both the theoretical revision and the results of the within-region analysis show that it is the interaction of these factors that create the greatest differences. Understanding vulnerability and its inequality through the PAR approach, factors or conditions that generate vulnerabilities are accumulated producing differentiated disaster risk. This has been confirmed by the final section of the analysis, showing that combinations of factors generate statistically significant differences between risk and average Chilean households.

6 Conclusion

In a climate change world, the risk of natural disaster in the world has shown evidence of only be increasing. In Chile, one of the most hazard-exposed countries in the world, disaster risk has been characterized as a strong obstacle for development, and its costs have been estimated to reach around 1.2% of the country's annual GDP. This research has provided empirical evidence showing that costs and impacts of natural disasters are far from naturally distributed: instead, they are to a great extent a reflection of social relationships and structures of power that generate inequality. In a way, hazards are natural, but disasters are to great measure, a function of income and social inequality.

Through the analysis of three mechanisms creating inequalities – economic entitlements, social and political power, and income inequality –, it has been found that vulnerability to natural disasters is unequally distributed among the Chilean population, an empirical contribution to this body of literature. Poor, rural, isolated, discriminated against households are significantly more likely to experience losses due to natural disasters. At the municipal and regional level, it has been found that households set in contexts with higher income inequality are also at more risk. Although these results must consider that this sample only considers the distribution of disasters for a single year, they are consistent with theoretical and empirical research in the subject.

As has been exposed throughout this research, these root conditions interact also with its environment. However, in Chile the context of a social policy that does not hinder inequality in conjunction with great territorial inequalities and capacities to generate responses to disasters, bolster inequalities of vulnerability that are generated through root conditions.

These results have relevant public policy implications, which arise from the PAR framework. First, they suggest that by tackling social root causes, it is possible to reduce natural disaster vulnerability, and therefore release budget for other social expenditures. The specific effects of expenditure and specific planning for reducing disaster risk are subject to future research. Second, it has been argued that differences at the municipal and regional level in terms of disaster and emergency response may enhance vulnerabilities even further. Specific analyses of what are appropriate disaster risk and disaster response policies should be researched further, but it seems that these processes interact with the household levels in increasing root causes for progressions of vulnerabilities.

While this research has provided with a differentiation of factors to which vulnerability responds to, it has also been showed that vulnerability has different characteristics under different contexts, understanding it as a dynamic characteristic of communities. The understanding of vulnerability allows for a deeper understanding of the extent to which Chilean's inequality structure permeates its environment but is its understanding that allows for tackling its root causes and setting the path for establishing resilient communities.

References

- Adger, W. N. (2006). Vulnerability, *Global Environmental Change*, [e-journal] vol. 16, no. 3, pp.268–281, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959378006000422.
- Agostini, C. A., Brown, P. H. & Roman, A. C. (2010). Poverty and Inequality Among Ethnic Groups in Chile, *World Development*, [e-journal] vol. 38, no. 7, pp.1036–1046, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0305750X0900237X.
- Alexander, D. (2000). Confronting Catastrophe: New Perspectives on Natural Disasters, New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Alwang, J., Siegel, P. B. & Jørgensen, S. L. (2001). Social Protection Discussion Paper Series Vulnerability: A View From Different Disciplines, 0115, Washington, DC, Available Online: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/SOCIALPROTECTION/Resources/SP-Discussionpapers/Social-Risk-Management-DP/0115.pdf [Accessed 23 April 2019].
- Anbarci, N., Escaleras, M. & Register, C. A. (2005). Earthquake Fatalities: The Interaction of Nature and Political Economy, *Journal of Public Economics*, [e-journal] vol. 89, no. 9–10, pp.1907– 1933, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047272704001525.
- Bandyopadhyay, S. (2016). The Vulnerable Are Not (Necessarily) the Poor, in J. Bishop & J. G. Rodríguez (eds), *Inequality after the 20th Century: Papers from the Sixth ECINEQ Meeting* (*Research on Economic Inequality*, Volume 24., [e-book] Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp.29–57, Available Online: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/10.1108/S1049-258520160000024003.
- Bellei, C. (2015). El Gran Experimento: Mercado y Privatización de La Educación Chilena, Santiago, Chile: LOM Editors.
- Bergstrand, K., Mayer, B., Brumback, B. & Zhang, Y. (2015). Assessing the Relationship Between Social Vulnerability and Community Resilience to Hazards, *Social Indicators Research*, [ejournal] vol. 122, no. 2, pp.391–409, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11205-014-0698-3.
- Besley, T. & Burgess, R. (2002). The Political Economy of Government Responsiveness: Theory and Evidence from India, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 117, no. 4, pp.1415–1451.
- Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile. (2019). Mapoteca División Político-Electoral, *Sistema Integrado de Información Territorial*, Available Online: https://www.bcn.cl/siit/mapoteca [Accessed 23 May 2019].
- Bolin, B. & Kurtz, L. C. (2018). Race, Class, Ethnicity, and Disaster Vulnerability, in H. Rodríguez, W. Donner, & J. E. Trainor (eds), *Handbook of Disaster Research*, [e-book] Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.181–203, Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63254-4 10.
- Bolin, R. & Klenow, D. J. (1983). Response of the Elderly to Disaster: An Age-Stratified Analysis, *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, [e-journal] vol. 16, no. 4, pp.283– 296, Available Online: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.2190/MQEG-YN39-8D5V-WKMP.
- Bolin, R. & Stanford, L. (1998). The Northridge Earthquake: Community-Based Approaches to Unmet Recovery Needs, *Disasters*, [e-journal] vol. 22, no. 1, pp.21–38, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1467-7717.00073.
- Boruff, B. J., Emrich, C. & Cutter, S. L. (2005). Erosion Hazard Vulnerability of US Coastal Counties, *Journal of Coastal Research*, [e-journal] vol. 215, pp.932–942, Available Online: http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.2112/04-0172.1.
- Brain, I. & Mora, P. (2012). Emergencia y Reconstrucción: Antes y Después Del Terremoto y Tsunami En Chile, edited by I. Brain & P. Mora, [e-book] Santiago de Chile: Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Centro de Políticas Públicas, Available Online: https://politicaspublicas.uc.cl/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/emergencia-y-reconstruccion-elantes-y-el-despues-del-terremoto-y-tsunami-del-27f.pdf [Accessed 23 May 2019].
- Bronfman, N. C., Cisternas, P. C., López-Vázquez, E. & Cifuentes, L. A. (2016). Trust and Risk Perception of Natural Hazards: Implications for Risk Preparedness in Chile, *Natural Hazards*, [e-

journal] vol. 81, no. 1, pp.307-327, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11069-015-2080-4.

- Cannon, T. (1994). Vulnerability Analysis and the Explanation of 'Natural' Disasters, in A. Varley (ed.), *Disasters, Development and Environment*, Chichester, UK: Wiley, pp.13–30.
- CASEN. (2017). Encuesta Nacional de Caracterización Socioeconómica, Available Online: http://observatorio.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl/casenmultidimensional/casen/basedatos.php.
- Castiglioni, R. (2018). Explaining Uneven Social Policy Expansion in Democratic Chile, *Latin American Politics and Society*, [e-journal] vol. 60, no. 3, pp.54–76, Available Online: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S1531426X18000249/type/journal article.
- Cavallo, E., Galiani, S., Noy, I. & Pantano, J. (2013). Catastrophic Natural Disasters and Economic Growth, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, [e-journal] vol. 95, no. 5, pp.1549–1561, Available Online: http://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/10.1162/REST a 00413.
- Ceballos, M. (2015). ¿Ciudadanía o Ayuda Social? Del Diseño de La Política Pública a La Experiencia de Las Mujeres Beneficiarias Asistenciales En Chile, *Caderno CRH*, [e-journal] vol. 28, no. 73, pp.165–180, Available Online: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0103-49792015000100165&lng=es&tlng=es.
- Christian, P., Kandpal, E., Palaniswamy, N. & Rao, V. (2019). Safety Nets and Natural Disaster Mitigation: Evidence from Cyclone Phailin in Odisha, *Climatic Change*, [e-journal] vol. 153, no. 1, pp.141–164, Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-02364-8.
- Cociña, C. & Boano, C. (2013). Housing and Reconstruction in Chile (2010-2012), *International Journal of Architecture Research*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp.57–79.
- Cociña, M., Frei, R. & Larrañaga, O. (2017). Desiguales: Orígenes, Cambios y Desafíos de La Brecha Social En Chile, [e-book] Santiago, Chile: UNDP Chile, Available Online: http://www.cl.undp.org/content/dam/chile/docs/pobreza/undp_cl_pobreza-Libro-DESIGUALESfinal.pdf.
- Cutter, S. L. (1996). Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards, *Progress in Human Geography*, [e-journal] vol. 20, no. 4, pp.529–539, Available Online: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/030913259602000407.
- Cutter, S. L. (2001). American Hazardscapes, [e-book] Washington, D.C.: Joseph Henry Press, Available Online: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10132.
- Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J. & Shirley, W. L. (2003). Social Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards*, *Social Science Quarterly*, [e-journal] vol. 84, no. 2, pp.242–261, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1540-6237.8402002.
- Dilley, M., Chen, R., Deichmann, U., Lerner-Lam, A., Arnold, M., Agwe, J., Buys, P., Kjestad, O., Lyon, B. & Yetman, G. (2005). Natural Disaster Hotspots: A Global Risk Analysis, Washington DC, Available Online: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/621711468175150317/pdf/344230PAPER0Na1010ff

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/621711468175150317/pdf/344230PAPER0Na101off icial0use0only1.pdf.

- Donner, W. & Rodriguez, H. (2008). Population Composition, Migration and Inequality: The Influence of Demographic Changes on Disaster Risk and Vulnerability, *Social Forces*, [ejournal] vol. 87, no. 2, pp.1089–1114, Available Online: https://academic.oup.com/sf/articlelookup/doi/10.1353/sof.0.0141.
- Elnashai, A., Gentcurk, B., Kwon, O.-S., Al-Qadi, I., Hashash, Y., Roesler, J., Kim, S., Jeong, S., Dukes, J. & Valdivia, A. (2010). The Maule (Chile) Earthquake of February 27, 2010: Consequence Assessment and Case Studies., Illinois, US, Available Online: https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/18212/Report10-04.pdf?sequence=2.
- Engel, K. E. (2016). Talcahuano, Chile, in the Wake of the 2010 Disaster: A Vulnerable Middle?, *Natural Hazards*, [e-journal] vol. 80, no. 2, pp.1057–1081, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11069-015-2051-9.
- Espinoza, V. (2012). El Reclamo Chileno Contra La Desigualdad de Ingresos: Explicaciones, Justificaciones y Relatos, *Izquierdas*, vol. 12, pp.1–25.
- Espinoza, V. & Núñez, J. (2014). Movilidad Ocupacional En Chile 2001-2009. ¿Desigualdad de Ingresos Con Igualdad de Oportunidades?, *Revista Internacional de Sociología*, [e-journal] vol.

72, no. 1, pp.57-82, Available Online:

http://revintsociologia.revistas.csic.es/index.php/revintsociologia/article/view/551/573.

- Fekete, A. (2009). Assessment of Social Vulnerability for River-Floods in Germany, Bonn, DE, Available Online: https://d-nb.info/1001191064/34 [Accessed 24 May 2019].
- Felbermayr, G. & Gröschl, J. (2014). Naturally Negative: The Growth Effects of Natural Disasters, *Journal of Development Economics*, [e-journal] vol. 111, pp.92–106, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0304387814000820.
- Freedman, D. A. (1999). Ecological Inference and the Ecological Fallacy, 549, Berkeley, CA, Available Online: https://statistics.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/tech-reports/549.pdf [Accessed 18 May 2019].
- Füssel, H.-M. & Klein, R. J. T. (2006). Climate Change Vulnerability Assessments: An Evolution of Conceptual Thinking, *Climatic Change*, [e-journal] vol. 75, no. 3, pp.301–329, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10584-006-0329-3.
- Gelman, A. (2006). Multilevel (Hierarchical) Modeling: What It Can and Cannot Do, *Technometrics*, [e-journal] vol. 48, no. 3, pp.432–435, Available Online: http://www.jstor.org/stable/25471214.
- Gillis Peacock, W., Gladwin, H. & Morrow, B. H. (2012). Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender and the Sociology of Disasters, London: Routledge.
- Graif, C. (2016). (Un)Natural Disaster: Vulnerability, Long-Distance Displacement, and the Extended Geography of Neighborhood Distress and Attainment after Katrina, *Population and Environment*, [e-journal] vol. 37, no. 3, pp.288–318, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11111-015-0243-6.
- Hilhorst, D. & Bankoff, G. (2004). Mapping Vulnerability, in G. Bankoff, G. Frerks, & D. Hilhorst (eds), *Mapping Vulnerability: Disasters, Development and People*, London: Earthscan, pp.1–9.
- Huafeng, Z. (2016). Household Vulnerability and Economic Status during Disaster Recovery and Its Determinants, *Natural Hazards*, [e-journal] vol. 83, pp.1505–1526, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11069-016-2373-2.
- Kammerbauer, M. & Wamsler, C. (2017). Social Inequality and Marginalization in Post-Disaster Recovery: Challenging the Consensus?, *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, [ejournal] vol. 24, pp.411–418, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2212420916307257.
- Kellenberg, D. K. & Mobarak, A. M. (2008). Does Rising Income Increase or Decrease Damage Risk from Natural Disasters?, *Journal of Urban Economics*, [e-journal] vol. 63, no. 3, pp.788–802, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0094119007000770.
- Klomp, J. & Valckx, K. (2014). Natural Disasters and Economic Growth: A Meta-Analysis, *Global Environmental Change*, [e-journal] vol. 26, pp.183–195, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959378014000351.
- Larrañaga, O. & Herrera, R. (2011). Encuesta Post-Terremoto: Principales Resultados, Efectos En La Calidad de Vida de La Población Afectada Por El Terremoto/Tsunami, Santiago, Chile, Available Online:

http://www.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl/pdf/upload/3_ENCUESTA_POSTTERREMOTO_RMS.pdf.

- Latinobarómetro. (2015). 2015 Round, Available Online: http://www.latinobarometro.org/latContents.jsp.
- Luke, D. (2011). The Need for Multilevel Modeling, in D. Luke (ed.), *Multilevel Modeling*, [e-book] Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc., pp.2–9, Available Online: http://methods.sagepub.com/book/multilevel-modeling/n1.xml.
- Luna, J. P. & Soifer, H. D. (2017). Capturing Sub-National Variation in State Capacity: A Survey-Based Approach, *American Behavioral Scientist*, [e-journal] vol. 61, no. 8, pp.887–907, Available Online: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0002764217720964.
- Milanovic, B. (2016). Global Inequality: A New Approach for the Age of Globalization, Cambridge, MA, London: Harvard University Press.
- Ministerio de Desarrollo Social. (2017). Casen 2017 Incluye Nuevas Preguntas Para Identificar Hogares Que Han Sido Afectados Por Desastres En El Último Año, *Noticias Ministerio de Desarrollo Social*, Available Online:

http://www.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl/noticias/casen-2017-incluye-nuevas-preguntas-

para-identificar-hogares-que-han-sido-afectados-por-desastres-en [Accessed 11 May 2019].

Ministerio de Desarrollo Social. (2018). Metodología de Diseño Muestral (Septiembre, 2018), Santiago, Available Online: http://observatorio.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl/casenmultidimensional/casen/docs/Diseno Muestral Casen 2017 MDS.pdf [Accessed 11 May 2019].

- Ministerio de Desarrollo Social y Familia. (2018). CASEN: Mirada Global, Archivo Histórico CASEN, Available Online: http://observatorio.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl/casen/casen_obj.php.
- Morrow, B. H. (1999). Identifying and Mapping Community Vulnerability, *Disasters*, [e-journal] vol. 23, no. 1, pp.1–18, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1467-7717.00102.

MunichRE. (2018). NatCatSERVICE - Analysis, *NatCatService*, Available Online: https://natcatservice.munichre.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2019].

- Myers, C. A., Slack, T. & Singelmann, J. (2008). Social Vulnerability and Migration in the Wake of Disaster: The Case of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, *Population and Environment*, [e-journal] vol. 29, no. 6, pp.271–291, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11111-008-0072-y.
- Neumayer, E. & Plümper, T. (2007). The Gendered Nature of Natural Disasters: The Impact of Catastrophic Events on the Gender Gap in Life Expectancy, 1981–2002, Annals of the Association of American Geographers, [e-journal] vol. 97, no. 3, pp.551–566, Available Online: http://ludwig.lub.lu.se/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr &AN=edsjsr.4620289&site=eds-live&scope=site.

Ocampo, J. A. (2008). Las Concepciones de La Política Social: Universalismo versus Focalización, *Nueva Sociedad*, vol. 215, pp.36–61.

- OECD. (2019). Income Inequality Data, *OECD Data*, Available Online: https://data.oecd.org/inequality/income-inequality.htm [Accessed 10 April 2019].
- Oliver-Smith, A. (2004). Theorizing Vulnerability in a Globalized World: A Political Ecological Perspective, in G. Bankoff, G. Frerks, & D. Hilhorst (eds), *Mapping Vulnerability: Disasters, Development and People*, Sterling, VA: Earthscan, pp.10–24.
- Oliver-Smith, A. (2009). Anthropology and the Political Economy of Disasters, in E. Jones & A. Murphy (eds), *The Political Economy of Hazards and Disasters*, Plymouth, UK: AltaMira Press, pp.11–30.
- ONEMI. (2014a). Política Nacional Para La Gestión de Riesgo de Desastres Report, Santiago, Available Online: https://www.preventionweb.net/files/52890_52890pngrd.pdf [Accessed 23 May 2019].
- ONEMI. (2014b). Política Nacional En Gestión Del Riesgo de Desastres (RESDAL), Santiago, Available Online: https://www.resdal.org/caeef-resdal/assets/chile---pol_tica-nacional-engesti n-del-riesgo-de-desastres.pdf [Accessed 23 May 2019].
- ONEMI. (2018). Informe Estadístico Anual 2017 de ONEMI, Santiago, Chile, Available Online: http://repositoriodigitalonemi.cl/web/bitstream/handle/2012/1818/InfEstAnualONEMI2017.pdf? sequence=1.
- Parro, F. & Reyes, L. (2017). The Rise and Fall of Income Inequality in Chile, *Latin American Economic Review*, [e-journal] vol. 26, no. 1, p.3, Available Online: https://latinaer.springeropen.com/articles/10.1007/s40503-017-0040-y.
- Paul, B. K. (2011). Environmental Hazards and Disasters: Contexts, Perspectives and Management, Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons.

PNUD-DES. (2017). Desiguales: Encuesta de Hogares, Available Online: https://www.desiguales.org/base-de-datos [Accessed 23 May 2019].

Rasch, R. (2017). Income Inequality and Urban Vulnerability to Flood Hazard in Brazil*, *Social Science Quarterly*, [e-journal] vol. 98, no. 1, pp.299–325, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ssqu.12274.

RIMISP, IDRC & IFAD. (2018). Poverty and Inequality, a Latin American Review: No Territory Left Behind, Santiago de Chile, Available Online: http://informelatinoamericano.rimisp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Sintesis-ENG-Rimisp-2017.pdf [Accessed 23 May 2019].

Roberts, K. (2015). Changing Course in Latin America, Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.

Rodriguez Weber, J. (2017). Desigualdad y Desarrollo En Chile: Historia Comparada de La Desigualdad En Chile y Uruguay, 2017/01, Santiago, Chile, Available Online: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/591a16f0b3db2b9357e5d065/t/591f1d4f3a0411460cd5e60 2/1495211351486/Serie+Documentos+de+trabajo+PNUD+-+Desigualdad+N°1.pdf.

- Roncancio, D. J. & Nardocci, A. C. (2016). Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in São Paulo, Brazil, *Natural Hazards*, [e-journal] vol. 84, no. 2, pp.1367–1383, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11069-016-2491-x.
- Sandoval Henríquez, V. A. (2017). The Progression of Vulnerability: A Multi-Scalar Perspective on Disasters, the Case of Chaitén, Chile, Available Online:
- http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1561339/1/Sandoval_Henriquez_Thesis.pdf [Accessed 24 May 2019]. Sandoval, V. & Voss, M. (2016). Disaster Governance and Vulnerability: The Case of Chile, *Politics and Governance*, [e-journal] vol. 4, no. 4, p.107, Available Online: http://cogitatiopress.com/ojs/index.php/politicsandgovernance/article/view/743.
- Sawada, Y. & Takasaki, Y. (2017). Natural Disaster, Poverty, and Development: An Introduction, World Development, [e-journal] vol. 94, pp.2–15, Available Online: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0305750X1630585X.
- Sen, A. (1990). Food Economics and Entitlements, in J. Dreze & A. Sen (eds), *The Political Economy* of Hunger, Clarendon: Oxford University Press, pp.34–50.
- Shiverdecker, L. K. & LeBreton, J. M. (2018). A Primer on Multilevel (Random Coefficient) Regression Modeling., in *The Handbook of Multilevel Theory, Measurement, and Analysis.*, [ebook] Washington: American Psychological Association, pp.389–422, Available Online: http://content.apa.org/books/16093-018.
- Skidmore, M. & Toya, H. (2002). Do Natural Disasters Promote Long-Run Growth?, *Economic Inquiry*, vol. 40, pp.664–687.
- Swift, J. (1989). Why Are Rural People Vulnerable to Famine?, *IDS Bulletin*, [e-journal] vol. 20, no. 2, pp.8–15, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1759-5436.1989.mp20002002.x.
- The World Bank. (2015). Chile: Efectos Distributivos de La Reforma Tributaria de 2014, Washington DC, Available Online: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/496131468228282235/Chile-Efectos-distributivos-de-la-reforma-tributaria-2014.
- The World Bank. (2018). World Development Indicators: Growth Rate GDP [Dataset], Available Online: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ny.gdp.mktp.kd.zg.
- UN Statistics. (2019). Chile: Country Profile, UN Data: Country Profiles, Available Online: http://data.un.org/en/iso/cl.html [Accessed 23 May 2019].
- UNDP. (2014). Auditoría a La Democracia: Más y Mejor Democracia Para Un Chile Inclusivo, Santiago, Available Online: www.pnud.cl [Accessed 16 January 2019].
- UNDP. (2018). Human Development Indices and Indicators: 2018 Statistical Update, New York, Available Online:

http://www.cl.undp.org/content/dam/chile/docs/desarrollohumano/undp_cl_idh_2018_Human_D evelopment_Statistical_Update.pdf [Accessed 16 January 2019].

UNISDR. (2009). Terminology: Disaster Risk Reduction, Geneva, Available Online: https://www.unisdr.org/files/7817 UNISDRTerminologyEnglish.pdf.

UNISDR. (2018). Disaster-Related Data for Sustainable Development: Sendai Framework Data Readiness Review 2017, New York, Available Online: https://www.unisdr.org/files/53080_entrybgpaperglobalsummaryreportdisa.pdf [Accessed 9 April 2019].

- UNISDR & CRED. (2018). Economic Losses, Poverty & amp; Disasters, New York, Available Online: https://www.unisdr.org/files/61119_credeconomiclosses.pdf [Accessed 9 April 2019].
- Valdivieso Fernández, P. (2017). Municipal Governance, Environmental Management and Disaster Risk Reduction in Chile, *Bulletin of Latin American Research*, [e-journal] vol. 36, no. 4, pp.440– 458, Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1111/blar.12595.
- Valenzuela, J. P., Bellei, C. & De los Ríos, D. (2014). Socioeconomic School Segregation in a Market-Oriented Educational System. The Case of Chile, *Journal of Education Policy*, [ejournal] vol. 29, no. 2, pp.217–241, Available Online: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02680939.2013.806995.
- Vásquez, A. & Salgado, M. (2009). Desigualdades Socioeconómicas y Distribución Inequitativa de Los Riesgos Ambientales En Las Comunas de Peñalolén y San Pedro de La Paz: Una Perspectiva de Justicia Ambiental, *Revista de geografía Norte Grande*, [e-journal] no. 43, Available Online: http://www.scielo.cl/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0718-34022009000200006&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en.

Vasquez, A., Salgado, M., Romero, H. & Smith, P. (2008). Socio-Economic Inequalities and the Inequitable Distribution of Environmental Risks in Chilean Metropolis Local Spaces: A Perspective of Environmental Justice, Santiago, Available Online: http://repositorio.uchile.cl/bitstream/handle/2250/118074/Vasquez et al Urbenviron 2008.pdf?sequence=1 [Accessed 11 April 2019].

Wamsler, C. (2014). Cities, Disaster Risk and Adaptation, London and New York: Routledge.

- Watts, M. J. & Bohle, H. G. (1993). The Space of Vulnerability: The Causal Structure of Hunger and Famine, *Progress in Human Geography*, [e-journal] vol. 17, no. 1, pp.43–67, Available Online: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/030913259301700103.
- West, D. M. & Orr, M. (2007). Race, Gender, and Communications in Natural Disasters, *Policy Studies Journal*, [e-journal] vol. 35, no. 4, pp.569–586, Available Online: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1541-0072.2007.00237.x.
- Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T. & Davies, I. (2004). At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability and Disasters, London: Routledge.
- Wooldridge, J. (2002). Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data, Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Yamamura, E. (2015). The Impact of Natural Disasters on Income Inequality: Analysis Using Panel Data during the Period 1970 to 2004, *International Economic Journal*, [e-journal] vol. 29, no. 3, pp.359–374, Available Online:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10168737.2015.1020323.

Yoon, D. K. (2012). Assessment of Social Vulnerability to Natural Disasters: A Comparative Study, *Natural Hazards*, [e-journal] vol. 63, no. 2, pp.823–843, Available Online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11069-012-0189-2.

Appendix A: Summary statistics and variable construction

Mechanism	Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Economic	Total income	171780	361,459	522,838.4	0	4.89E+07
capacity and entitlement	Total income (log)	171663	12.4506	0.7656	6.2146	17.7052
Inoquality	Regional Gini	171780	0.4245	0.0439	0.3712	0.4983
inequality	Municipal Gini	171780	0.3804	0.0533	0.2214	0.6190

Table 11: Summary statistics for continuous variables

Table 12: Categories, count, percentage and source of categorical variables

Mechanism	Variable	Categories	Count	Percentage	Source	
		1	17432	10.16		
		2	20928	12.2		
		3	20162	11.75		
	Regional income	4	18984	11.06		
		5	18369	10.7	CASEN	
	decile	6	17182	10.01	CASEN	
		7	16249	9.47		
Economic		8	15031	8.76		
capacity and entitlement		9	14322	8.35		
entitientent		10	12939	7.54		
		Non-poor	133198	80.69	CACEN	
	Poverty status	Poor	31878	19.31	CASEN	
	Deficient housing	No	145,961	85.18	CACEN	
	status	Yes	25,396	14.82	CASEN	
	Over-crowdedness	No	155,728	90.98	CASEN	
	status	Yes	15,433	9.02		
	Coorrentia zono	Urban	143,206	83.37	CASEN	
	Geographic zone	Rural	28,574	16.63	CASEN	
	Physical Isolation	Non isolated	157,861	91.9	Constructed	
D 1. 1 1	status	Isolated	13,919	8.1	Constructed	
Political and social power	Social Isolation	Non isolated	111,309	65.67	CASEN	
	status	Isolated	581,777	34.33	CASEN	
	Educational lavel	Below primary education		30.5	Constructed	
		Above primary education	119,392	69.5	Constructed	

No	150 490	0.0	
110	130,480	88	CASEN
Yes	21,118	12.31	CASEN
Does not belong	149,963	87.3	
Belongs	21,817	12.7	Constructed
	Yes Does not belong Belongs	Yes 21,118 Does not belong 149,963 Belongs 21,817	Yes 21,118 12.31 Does not belong 149,963 87.3 Belongs 21,817 12.7

Appendix B: Models diagnostics tests

Correlation test

Table 13 shows that the utilized variables do not present high correlation rates.

Table 13: Variable correlation matrix

	Inc	Inc.	Darr	Han	Casud	7	ու լ	See Is	Edua	Dian	India	Mun.	Reg.
	me.	Dec-	POV.	пои	Crowd	Zone	Ph.18	500.18	Educ	Disc	indig	Gini	Gini
Inc. Decile	0.52	1.00											
Poverty	-0.15	-0.25	1.00										
Deficient	-0.10	-0.17	0.35	1.00									
housing	-0.10	-0.17	0.55	1.00									
Over-	-0.11	-0.19	0.31	0.10	1.00								
crowdedness	-0.11	-0.17	0.51	0.10	1.00								
Zone	-0.09	-0.13	0.17	0.04	0.00	1.00							
Physical	0.05	0.07	0.11	0.03	0.01	0.48	1.00						
isolation	-0.05	-0.07	0.11	0.05	0.01	0.48	1.00						
Social isolation	-0.09	-0.09	0.35	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.04	1.00					
Educational	0.13	0.21	-0.16	-0.07	-0.10	-0.13	-0.08	-0.03	1.00				
level	0.15	0.21	0.10	0.07	0.10	0.15	0.00	0.05	1.00				
Discrimination	0.00	-0.03	0.06	0.07	0.04	-0.04	-0.02	0.03	0.00	1.00			
Indigenous	-0.08	-0.10	0.10	0.04	0.04	0.13	0.08	0.06	-0.07	0.03	1.00		
people	0.00	0.10	0.10	0.04	0.04	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.05	1.00		
Mun. Gini	0.15	0.16	-0.06	-0.04	-0.03	-0.15	-0.05	-0.04	0.05	0.02	0.02	1.00	
Reg. Gini	0.16	0.02	-0.02	-0.05	0.03	-0.15	-0.09	0.02	0.05	0.06	-0.07	-0.06	1
Fam. Subsidy	-0.07	-0.12	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.01	0.04	-0.03	-0.022

ROC Tests

In a ROC curve the true positive rate (Sensitivity) is calculated in function of the false positive rate (100-Specificity). The area under the ROC curve (AUC) is a measure of how well a parameter can distinguish between two groups (1/0). A test with perfect discrimination has an area closer to 1, and areas above 0.50 are usually classified as good predictors (Gelman, 2006). As shown, all models score values above 0.60 as point estimators, and no confidence interval goes below 0.60, which shows that models are reasonably good in predicting results.

Analysis	Model	Area	Std. Error	Inte	rval
	Model 1	0.6411	0.0015	0.64404	0.63816
National	Model 2	0.6627	0.0021	0.666816	0.658584
	Model 3	0.6532	0.0032	0.659472	0.646928
	Model 4	0.6718	0.0069	0.685324	0.658276
	Model 5	0.7012	0.0071	0.715116	0.687284
	Model 6	0.6811	0.0096	0.699916	0.662284
	Model 7	0.7193	0.0041	0.727336	0.711264
	Model 8	0.7242	0.0022	0.728512	0.719888
Destand	Model 9	0.6925	0.0039	0.700144	0.684856
Regional	Model 10	0.7312	0.0032	0.737472	0.724928
	Model 11	0.7122	0.0049	0.721804	0.702596
	Model 12	0.6632	0.0054	0.673784	0.652616
	Model 13	0.6788	0.0076	0.693696	0.663904
	Model 14	0.7026	0.0068	0.715928	0.689272
	Model 15	0.7039	0.0031	0.709976	0.697824

Table 14: ROC Estimations

AIC and BIC

Akaike's information criterion and Bayesian information criterion are selection tests. The general interpretation is that models showing smaller values better fit the data than those with larger values, which lead to the selection of Model 2 and 3 as the specification for the regional models.

Table 15: AIC and BIC tests

Model	Obs.	ll(model)	df	AIC	BIC
Model 1	164973	-56826.01	13	113678	113808.2
Model 2	165076	-56839.06	21	113720.1	113930.4
Model 3	165076	-56837.98	21	113718	113928.3

Table 16: Estimation of probability margins for within-cluster effects, at population average and risk values

	M	ean values	R	Risk values			
	Constant	Standard Errors	Constant	Standard Errors			
National	0.11***	(0.0001)	0.22***	(0.0076)			
Region 2	0.17***	(0.0030)	0.32***	(0.0100)			
Region 3	0.16***	(0.0025)	0.30***	(0.0100)			
Region 4	0.15***	(0.0020)	0.29**	(0.0096)			
Region 5	0.14***	(0.0016)	0.27***	(0.0092)			
Region 7	0.13***	(0.0010)	0.25***	(0.0083)			
Region 8	0.12***	(0.0008)	0.23***	(0.0079)			
Region 9	0.11***	(0.0008)	0.22***	(0.0076)			
Region 10	0.10***	(0.0008)	0.21***	(0.0074)			
Region 11	0.10***	(0.0001)	0.20***	(0.0071)			
Region 12	0.09***	(0.0011)	0.19***	(0.0069)			
Region 13	0.09***	(0.0012)	0.18***	(0.0066)			
Region 15	0.08***	(0.0013)	0.17***	(0.0064)			

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1